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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (the "Company” or “E Lighting”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

E Lighting, a listed company with its business rooted in Hong
Kong and also one of the most established retail chain groups of
lighting and household products in Hong Kong, is committed to
the sustainable development of the environment and the society
and is devoted to social responsibility. During the year ended 31
March 2022 (the “Financial Year”), E Lighting has participating
in several events launched by charitable institutions and has been
honoured a “Caring Company” for eight consecutive years.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

With the continuous widespread of the coronavirus pandemic
(the “COVID-19") in early 2022, and the prolonged
implementation of travel restrictions and social distancing
measures, the economic activities in Hong Kong were severely
affected which disrupted supply chains and changed consumption
habits. The lockdowns have negatively affected the consumer
market in the first quarter of 2022.

Despite the extremely challenging business environment,
E Lighting has continued to promote its existing business
development. E Lighting will maintain a flexible and tailored sales
and marketing strategy to offer its consumers with diversified
and modern choices by accurately procuring the suitable products
for the domestic market, which will in turn reinforce E Lighting’s
leading market position.

In April and May 2021, the Group has successfully opened two
new retail stores, including “PANALIVING” at HomeSquare,
Shatin and “PHILIPS AT EL” at Megabox, Kowloon Bay, in order
to capture the opportunities of development. The launch of the
new shops further increase the market share of the Group.

In the meantime, the Group is actively developing smart home
and related products and closely looking for new opportunities
for those businesses.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT = & 3R &

Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
need for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.

Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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Dear Shareholders,

| present the results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 (the "Financial Year").

This Financial Year was a year full of challenges and
opportunities for E Lighting. The COVID-19 pandemic have led
to continuous diminishing consumer spending momentum, and
the retail markets experienced a difficult operating environment.
To address the change in market condition, the Group took
proactive measures to strengthen cost and cash flow control
measures. In addition, the Group timely adjusted its product
strategies and actively carried out promotion activities and
expanded its business. COVID-19 became more serious in early
2022 and the strict anti-epidemic measures implemented by
the government brought the retail industry to a standstill in the
first quarter of 2022. Optimistically, the epidemic has eased in
the early April 2022, together with the sound effects from the
Consumption Vouchers Scheme, | believed that the Group’s
overall performance will have improvement in the second half of
2022.

During the Financial Year, the Group's revenue was
approximately HK$83,891,000, representing an increase of
approximately 2.0% from approximately HK$82,227,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly due
to the Group timely adjusted its product strategies and actively
carried out promotion activities and expanded its business.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the retail chain business
in lighting and designer label furniture was approximately
HK$83,420,000, accounted for approximately 99.4% of the
Group’s revenue, representing an increase of approximately 9.6%
from approximately HK$76,091,000 as compared with that of
the preceding year.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the tableware, giftware
and other business was approximately HK$471,000, accounted
for approximately 0.6% of the Group’s revenue, representing
a decrease of approximately 92.3% from approximately
HK$6,136,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$46,239,000 and recorded a profit of
approximately HK$2,395,000. As at 31 March 2022, the Group's
net assets were approximately HK$27,045,000.

CEO'S_ STATEMENT
THRABEHRE
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CEO'S STATEMENT 47 Bk 48 & 3f &

As COVID-19 continues to spread around the world, the Hong
Kong retail market remains challenging, retail market would
continue to be affected by the development of local epidemic in
the near term, but the retail market may gradually recover in mid
2022. The Group will closely monitor the trend of the business
environment, maintain pragmatic approach for its business, and
take every chance to identify any suitable opportunity in the
market for the Group.

Lastly, | hereby express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
investors, business partners, staff and customers on behalf of E
Lighting. In spite of the challenges ahead, E Lighting will step
forward with ambitious entrepreneurship to reward for the
continuous supports from all parties.

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
Founder and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Retail chain business in lighting and designer label
furniture

Retail chain business in lighting and designer label furniture is the
core business of the Group. Being one of the most established
retail chain groups of lighting products in Hong Kong, E
Lighting possesses rich experience in the sale of quality lighting
and designer label furniture products from all over the world.
During the Financial Year, the Group timely adjusted its product
strategies and actively carried out promotion activities. Moreover,
two new retail stores were opened in Shatin and Kowloon Bay in
April 2021 and May 2021 respectively and the launch of the new
shops further increases the market share of the Group.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the retail chain business
in lighting and designer label furniture was approximately
HK$83,420,000, accounted for approximately 99.4% of the
Group’s revenue.

Tableware, giftware and other business

Tableware, giftware and other business is mainly for wholesale
of tableware, giftware and other trading worldwide, which has
expanded the Group’s business portfolio, and broadened its
source of income and generated additional cash flows.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the business in tableware,
giftware and other business was approximately HK$471,000,
accounted for approximately 0.6% of the Group’s revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [E &1 7 & 2 4T

FUTURE OUTLOOK

With reference to the monthly figures released by the Census
and Statistics Department of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “Government”), the value of
total retail sales continued to grow for 12 consecutive months
from February 2021 to January 2022 over the previous year, but
commences to drop in February and March 2022.

The Directors foresee that the Hong Kong retail market remains
challenging, retail market would continue to be affected by the
development of local epidemic in the near term. The Group will
closely monitor the trend of the business environment, maintain
pragmatic approach for its business and take every chance to
identify any suitable opportunity in the market for the Group.

The Group will continue to concentrate on the consolidation of
its retail network, optimisation of product mix and intensification
of cost control, and will also continue to seize opportunities to
stabilise growth through cautious strategic planning.

In the meantime, the Group is actively developing smart home
and related products and closely looking for new opportunities
for those businesses.

Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
needs for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 E & 5 & o 1T

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Financial Year, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$83,891,000, representing an increase of
approximately 2.0% from approximately HK$82,227,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly due
to the Group timely adjusted its product strategies and actively
carried out promotion activities and expanded its business.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the retail chain business
in lighting and designer label furniture was approximately
HK$83,420,000, representing an increase of approximately 9.6%
from approximately HK$76,091,000 as compared with that of
the preceding year.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the tableware, giftware
and other business was approximately HK$471,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 92.3% from approximately
HK$6,136,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$46,239,000, representing an increase of
approximately 5.0% from approximately HK$44,054,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year. The increase was
primarily due to increase in sales and gross profit margin. During
the Financial Year, the Group’s overall gross profit margin was
approximately 55.1%.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s selling and distribution
expenses was approximately HK$27,422,000, representing
an increase of approximately 19.2% from approximately
HK$23,005,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.
Selling and distribution expenses primarily consists of rentals for
retail outlets and related expenses, depreciation on right-of-use
assets, staff costs (including salaries and sales commission to
salespersons) and electronic payment charges. The increase
was primarily due to increase in staff costs and depreciation on
right-of-use assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [E &1 7 & 2 4T

Administrative and Other Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s administrative and other
expenses was approximately HK$15,373,000, representing
an increase of approximately 8.5% from approximately
HK$14,169,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.
Administrative and other expenses primarily consists of rentals
for warehousing facilities, depreciation of right-of-use assets of
office premises, staff costs (including salaries to administrative
staff and emoluments to Directors) and professional expenses.
The increase was primarily due to increase in staff costs.

Profit for the Year

The Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$2,395,000
during the Financial Year (2021: profit of approximately
HK$8,157,000).

Significant Investments held, Material Acquisitions

and Disposals of Subsidiaries, and Future Plans for

Material Investments or Capital Assets

(i) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop
335:
On 14 September 2021 (after trading hours), E Lighting
Group Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with Sun Hung Kai
Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited as the agent
for the owner to renew the existing tenancy agreement
for operation of retail store of retail business of the Group
(“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335").

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & I2 [Z & 7% K& 2 T

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335:
BB A58 HE nis i)+ ZIRL

Effective date:
£ BHE

Parties:

HEWIE

Premises:
/e

Term:
FHES -

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

ENHRERE :

1 October 2021
—E-—%+H—H

(i) Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the
owner; and

(i) FBREMEGHEREE)REBERAFT (EREIREA) K

(i) E Lighting Group Limited, as tenant.
(i) E Lighting Group Limited ({fEBHF) -

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally engaged
in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun
Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate owner of the premises.
FEIRBAR—HERBBEIMAILINAR]  TBREVEHEE  TAMNBEMEELRE
PRAA (ZRMPBEAZER ET (RHRIE - 16)) W2 EMBLRA - TBEMERR
ERABIBMEREREBA °

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the agent for the owner, the ultimate owner of the premises
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are the parties independent of and
not connected with the Company and its connected persons (the “Independent Third
Parties”).

NEEEMAMME UKBAAESEEH EINEZENGERESERABRBIR
RAARIREBEALTEREHEBEOAL((BLE=7]) -

Shop No. 335 on level 3 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong
BBEFRD B E®K1385K3E3355

Three years from 1 October 2021 to 30 September 2024 (both days inclusive)
A F+A—HBE-_Z-_NFNLA=-+tRH(BEEEMR) B =F

Not less than approximately HK$5,635,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate
for the term of three years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

MMER#)5,635,00087C - I =FHHNEGAEAHEH(TRIEEZEN  ZFAREEE -
HEERARHEAMZEH) -

The tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

MPEAEZEBANMEREZAXXNEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount by
which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the said premises
during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds the basic
rental.

BETAESNEARIINEEREEAS  BEFPRESRNANZDERREBREE AL
WABI15% (TEERIFIR) LB ARARESH SR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [E &1 7 & 2 4T

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 335:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the Group has
to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of retail stores from
time to time. It would be beneficial to lease the said premises
as it will enable the Group to secure its stable operation at the
said premises without incurring additional costs and expenses
in identifying, renovating and relocating to other retail store
and ensure that there will be no disruption to the operations,
business and growth of the Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335
(including the rental charge) were determined after arm’s length
negotiations between the parties and with reference to the open
market rent of comparable properties in the nearby districts
and the rental payment made by the Group under the existing
tenancy agreement. The Board considers that the terms of
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335 were entered
into on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

BB H3354 2 HE s 2 i K i e -

ARREERETERHIUEEER  AKE
ATEREETEEMICEASHZE - HEZ
MERBEREEZE EAKERZENEE
GRELE MAFTERIRK KERRER
MEEEMMELEBINARFAX - LRERAN
SENEE EHERERTETE -

EESAEHIEEBR 2GR (EFEEAS)
THATNTR2EMOIMRAILEYERZ AR
mHEHEMAEERERAEHRERZET M
ERATENET EXSRREEDPH3IZH
ZHEWMH 2GRN AEERE R —REK
BREPE-RAXGRFTL BAFAE I
HEARRA MR ZEENES -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 E & 5 & o 1T

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal of
Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company recognises
the value of the right-of-use assets on its consolidated statement
of financial position in connection with the lease of the premises.
Accordingly, Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335
is regarded as acquisitions of assets by the Group for the purpose
of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 19.07
of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction contemplated
under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335
exceed 5% but are below 25%, such transaction constitutes
a discloseable transaction of the Company, and is subject to
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt from
shareholders’ approval requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 14 September 2021.

(ii) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop
308:
On 25 October 2021 (after trading hours), Culture Art
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
tenant finalised the renewal terms with Sun Hung Kai Real
Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited as the agent for
the owner to renew the existing tenancy agreement for
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group
(“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 308").

BEY H3355% 4 < 1 B 1% RGEM L 7
HMANE T2 5% -
REFEMBREEREISRHE] - A F
REAVBMNEANERBEZDEBANE
REEENEE- Bt REGEMLEM A A
EREY M3355 8 2 THE i AR (E A &R B
BEE-

HMREEZESHSHE HAERETET A
XSG 7ERABE R (EEZEAGEMEMHAE
19.071%) HBiB5%E{KR25% * Z R B EK AR
RIZATHERS BETRRERAEHTE
ERBETREIERTE ©

HMBSNBRARABNA-E-—FAA
TEAHRE -

(i) ERDH308FH 2 HE WS :

RZEZ—F+AZ+THEH(XRZRKE
%) XBERAR (AREZ2ENBAR)
EAMFPEMmEREME (HELHEE) KR
BERAR (EFREANBTEEGK N
BEREHERREAEBRETTEER
Z2EEEH((EEYP 308K 2HE W
ES DI
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [E &1 7 & 2 4T

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 308:
BENHI08K .2 HE %09 F ZIFH -

Effective date:
EBE

Parties:

HESVIE

Premises:

E S

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

ENREHRE:

3 November 2021
—E-—F+—H=H

(i) Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the
owner; and

(i) FHEMWEGHELRME)REBRAAEREEIREAN) &

(ii)  Culture Art Limited, as tenant.

(i) XBERAR(ARRZEMBLR ER/RERP) -

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally
engaged in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate
owner of the premises.

EXIRBAR—BRBEBTMKUNAG  TEREMENRE  TRNBEME
BERARRAF (RO ER L (RHKSE - 16)) W2 EWBRF « $%
EMEERBERAGRMERKEGA -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the landlord and its respective ultimate beneficial owners are
the Independent Third Parties.

NEEEMAMGE TEBMEEEEH XX REZENEREREEALR
BUE=F -

Shop No. 308 on level 3 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong

BB R BHEZIK138531E3085% 4

Two and half years from 3 November 2021 to 2 May 2024 (both days inclusive)
B_Z-—F+—-—A=RE-T_NFHIA_B(BEEEMX) RHMF¥

Not less than approximately HK$2,992,000, being the monthly rental in aggregate
for the term of two and half years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and
management charges, promotion levy and all other outgoings).

MME 492,992,000 7T - BIMEFHAGAERESAH(TBEEN  ZFAR
ERE HEEEBARHEMIH) -

The tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HMEAEBANBERZEAXNHEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.

MPTESNSAENEEERS APRERENAGZMERREBE
FREBKANIS% (PEERNE) BE S AERHENEHE -

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & I2 [Z & 7% K& 2 T

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 308:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin
Shop 308 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreement.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 308 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 308:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the premises. Accordingly, Renewal of
Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 308 is regarded as
acquisitions of assets by the Group for the purpose of the
GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Shatin Shop 308 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 25 October 2021.

FEENHI8HEH M E %2 B/
Rz -
HAREBRELTELB I MEFER &
EEATEREETEEHTIEE R -
MEZYWELEAEEATE  FAEER
REYERESBELE NATEASER -
RERBBEFTEREHMAESEIRA
RN UWHRRAEBEMHLE EBRE
BREhH -

BB HE308FH L HE M HEZ GHK (B
ME) DHATHOTE2EHTE A LR
MEZAADTSEERAREREREEHE
EMBEXNZIEERATHEREE -EF
SRR/EFEPBI08 R 2 HEHHE Z &
RN AEERER —REHBEFLZ—
MEEGRFTL BRAFAE  XFE
NE| R BR 2 BREF s

FAEY H3085 4 < 1 & 1% i KGEM
ETHRIE T Z %2
WIEESEM G HRELERE 16 [HE] -
ARABREFEVHFRARNEREEZY
XEHNTRAEEENEE - Bt - B
GEMETMRA - EEYN H308H M 2 HE
HEEREAESEWRBEE -

MR EEYDP ARG 2HERE T#E
ARG ZERE LR (EER
GEM E R BI$19.071§) HBiB5% B KPR
25%  ERPERARBZAFHER
5 BABETHEREAEETEEREEST
f& AL AERIE -

HBEBELBEERNARFT AT - —F
+AZ+HEBMAE -
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(iii) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop

56:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [E &1 7 & 2 4T

(iii) EFBHS6RM 2 HE W -

On 3 March 2022 (after trading hours), Element Lighting E’\_§::¢EHEE (X SBE®%) B

Design Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with Garwick
Development Limited as the landlord to renew the existing = ﬂéﬁ;&( NEERAEHREE
tenancy agreement for operation of retail store of retail
business of the Group (“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of

Wanchai Shop 56”).

B BAERAR (AR EZEMBAR)E
ﬁfﬂﬁ&@ﬂﬂ{i?’*?ﬁﬁﬁ A (XF)HETEE
= R EASE R
EEBTEES([EEETS6%E

ZTH Sthal) -

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56:

BEEFS69 2 HE 4

% 1+ Z XA

Effective date:
A

Parties:

HESVIE

Premises:

E S

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

e R EMAE :

8 March 2022
—EZF=AHNH

(i)  Garwick Development Limited, as landlord; and

(i) MNMEBRBERRAAUEREE) K

(i) Element Lighting Design Limited, as tenant
(i WARAARAR(ARARLZ2ENBAR  EREF) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment.

EIR—RBRBBEXNLNRE, TEREMERE -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and their respective ultimate
beneficial owners (Miss Liu Tong Rita, Mr. Liu Wai Lun Jeffrey and Miss Liu Wai Fun
Jennifer) are the Independent Third Parties.

NEZEZFMAMGE  YEBMBEESH XX YEERKEEA(BZESX T
F//Eﬁ}i‘iy"ﬂt?ﬁiﬁrgﬁﬁi) REZENGEREREEAGRBIE=S -

G/F & Cockloft, 56 Morrison Hill Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
FREFERER ILB56T T M EE

Two years from 8 March 2022 to 7 March 2024 (both days inclusive)
B —F=-ANBEZZ-_NF=AtH(BEEERX) BHWRTE

Not less than HK$2,250,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

MMER 2,250,000 7T - IMFHBATAEAEE
B HEEBAREMIH) -

BE(TREEM EHARER

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HEBEBANBERZAXNHEERE -

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 E & 5 & o 1T

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai
Shop 56 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the premises. Accordingly, Renewal of
Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56 is regarded as
acquisitions of assets by the Group for the purpose of the
GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Wanchai Shop 56 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 March 2022.

ﬁf‘%ZS&/f#ﬁZﬁfﬂfiﬁy/y %~ FE A K
#a -
EEﬁ’\EA?/%%%?%%f%Z’\EEE% N
SEEATHREESEEHICEEHE -
HMEZVEREAEERE  FEREER
*Ziﬂ%%ﬁéﬁgi*éL MABEERINR
REgkkER Eﬁﬁ'ﬁ?ﬁi%ﬁﬁ\\ﬁiﬁ
kA ]Iﬁﬁﬁ'(ﬁﬁlﬁ’] CEBRE
A gHE -

EEEFeRBZEERRE G (R
ME) DHATHOTE2EHTE A LR
MEZAFETSEEE MAEEREBRER
EMBEXNZIEERATHEREE -EF
SRREBBEFS6F M2 HE R E 2 G
TDRASEAER —REHBEPE R
BERGHRL - BAVRE XFEAR
ARz BN -

BEE 5654 2 E i3 RGEM_E
TTARIE T2 %% -

$E%J§i5‘%ﬁﬁ%$&i‘>&ﬁu%16ﬁWﬂ ] -
ARABREFEVHFRARNEREEZY
XEHENTRBEEENEE - Bt RIE
GEMETMREA - EFETS6HMoHER

HREFAEERBEEE -

MR EEETsesimz HEmE N #ETZ
MORSZEAED LR (FEAGEME
R A %19.071&) #B B5%E K 1K25% -
URGEXRARAZATHERS Bl
FTEHBFEEAERTEEREETRELME
HIE °

HEBSHBARARARSA =B
SA=ANAE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [E &1 7 & 2 4T

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2022 nor material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries during the Financial Year.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no plan for material
investments or capital assets as at the date of this annual report.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$13,855,000 (2021: HK$17,557,000). The
gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total bank borrowings
over total equity, was nil as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil), as the
Group mainly financed the operations from internally generated
funds and had no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
Nil).

The Group closely monitors the cash flow position to ensure
that the Group has sufficient working capital available to fulfill
its operational requirement. The Group takes into account the
trade receivables, trade payables, cash and bank balances,
administrative and capital expenditures to prepare cash flow
forecast to forecast the Group’s future liquidity.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. As financial
management, sales proceed is immediately deposit to reputable
and creditworthy banks to ensure security, liquidity and for
meeting future funding requirements.

Capital Structure
The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. As at 31
March 2022, there were 451,035,713 ordinary shares in issue.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$27,045,000 as at 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$24,650,000).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2022, save as otherwise disclosed, the Group did
not have any material contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 E & 5 & o 1T

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, Euro, United States dollar and Renminbi,
hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. We are
mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation of the Euro
and Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar, as Hong Kong dollar
is pegged to United States dollar. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arises. The Directors are of the view that the
transactional exposure of the Group in currencies other than the
functional currencies is maintained at an acceptable level.

Charges on Group Assets
As at 31 March 2022, there was no charges on the Group’s
assets (2021: Nil).

Segment Information
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2021: Nil).

Dividend
The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Financial Year (2021: Nil).

Employee Information

Total remuneration of the Group for the Financial Year
(including (i) Directors’ emoluments, (ii) salaries to staff and (iii)
MPF contributions) was approximately HK$19,115,000 (2021:
HK$16,963,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 50 employees (2021: 49
employees).

Remuneration Policies

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
based on the performance of individual employees and are
reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s profitability, the
Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an
incentive for their contribution to the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

I1

=

=REREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, aged 55, was appointed as an executive
Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is the
chairman of the Board and head of human resources department.
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is also a director of several subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is responsible for the business
development, operations and business expansion plans and
human resources activities of the Group. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is
the younger brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond, the executive Directors.

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu has over 30 years of business management
experience and obtained a Bachelor of social sciences degree
from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, aged 59, was appointed as
an executive Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is one of the founders and chief executive officer of
the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is also a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is responsible for the business development, operations
and devising market strategy and business expansion plans of the
Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is the younger brother
of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and the elder brother of Mr. Hue Kwok
Chiu, the executive Directors.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond has over 30 years of experience in
lighting and furniture retails business in Hong Kong and obtained
a Bachelor of arts degree from the University of Hong Kong in
November 1985 and a Master of design degree from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2010.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, aged 60, was appointed as an executive
Director on 19 June 2015. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the chief
creative officer of the Group and responsible for the business
development of the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the elder
brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, the executive Director,
and Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, the executive Director.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing has over 29 years of experience in concept
creation, product design, design management and retail business
management and obtained Bachelor of arts degree in industrial
design from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1989.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT % %= N &5

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chung Wai Man (“Mr. Chung”), aged 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Chung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Chung obtained a Bachelor’s degree (honours) in social
sciences from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989
and a Master’s degree in international business management
from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1998.

Mr. Chung became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in April 1995 and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom in November 1999.

Mr. Chung has around 32 years of experience in accounting,
taxation and finance. Mr. Chung is currently an independent
non-executive director of Net Pacific Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 5QY), the shares of which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, and an
independent non-executive director of Shandong Fengxiang Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 9977), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Leung Wai Chuen (“Mr. Leung”), aged 56, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Leung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in social sciences from
the University of Hong Kong in December 1989, a Master’s
degree in business administration jointly awarded by the
University of Wales and the University of Manchester in July 2001
and a Master’s degree in business (logistics management) from
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (now known as RMIT
University) in September 2007.

Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and
an associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute respectively.

Mr. Leung has over 31 years’ experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and company secretarial matters. He
worked for and held senior positions in various listed companies
in Hong Kong and was responsible for their finance, accounting
and company secretarial functions. Mr. Leung is currently the
company secretary of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1271), and an independent non-executive director
of Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
1455), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung was a non-executive director, from
November 2017 to August 2019, of MOS House Group Limited
(stock code: 1653), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (“Ms. Yeung”), aged 57,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
11 September 2014. Ms. Yeung is responsible for providing
independent judgement on the issue of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Ms. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of arts degree in retail marketing
with honours from the Manchester Metropolitan University in the
United Kingdom in June 1994. She pursued her further study on
legal course and obtained a Diploma in legal practice from the
Manchester Metropolitan University in the United Kingdom in
July 1998.

Ms. Yeung became a qualified solicitor of Hong Kong in
December 2000.

Ms. Yeung has over 21 years of experience in legal field in
private practice working with various law firms in Hong Kong.
Ms. Yeung is currently an independent non-executive director
of Success Universe Group Limited (stock code: 487), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Ms. Yeung is currently also an independent non-executive
director of Merdeka Financial Group Limited (formerly known as
Merdeka Financial Services Group Limited) (stock code: 8163),
the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

BREEzT((HBLL)) 575 R-_T—0F
NA+—BARZERBIFATESFT BT
BERAEEETHERR KRR -BRETR
FRIEERMEB T HIE -

BRI - NANOFAARSRE = HNE
MEABZTEMHBEXEXBLEM - B
—ANANFLARKEERTHERBESE
REERRIE BERBEREBXUR -

BEZITR-_ZEZEFE+_AKABTBAERE

BRITHEEBNFERBTELARXZN AR
MEBANZEREER BRI HAERRKE
PR (BRMDRSE : 487) QB IEAITES
ZBRORBRAERET - HBRLETSEE
TREEERAR (EERRREEESA
BRAF]) (RHMRE : 8163) 2B IFHITES -
% PR A7 OB A PTGEM £ 77

SRPEEEZERERAT 2021/22F 8K

25



26

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT =N 5 K & 12 [E

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chou Hing Yan Stephen (“Mr. Chou”), aged 59, was an
executive Director from 26 February 2014 to 29 February 2016
and employed as senior business manager on 1 March 2016.
Mr. Chou is one of the founders of the Group and responsible
for the business, operations and marketing affairs of the Group.

Mr. Chou has over 18 years of experience in lighting and
furniture retails business in Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in commerce from McMaster University of Canada in June
1987.

Mr. Wong Peng Lin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 50, is the operation
manager of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group on 1
December 2003. He is primarily responsible for supervising the
day to day operation of the retail stores in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
has over 17 years of experience in lighting retail business in the
Group.

Mr. Chang David (“"Mr. Chang”), aged 52, is the product &
logistics manager of the Group. Mr. Chang joined the Group on
3 October 2012, he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product and logistics of the Group. Mr. Chang is also responsible
to oversee compliance with safety requirements of all lighting
and electrical products offered for sale at the retail stores,
monitor the latest development on safety requirements and
enhance closer communications between us and the suppliers in
respect of the safety and certification requirements for lighting
and electrical products in Hong Kong. Mr. Chang has over 25
years of experience in lighting business in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tang Lap Ming (“Mr. Tang”), aged 36, is the deputy
financial controller and company secretary of the Group.
Mr. Tang joined the Group on 17 November 2021, he is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial and daily secretarial
matters of the Group.

Mr. Tang graduated from Hong Kong Lingnan University with
Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since January 2001. He has around 15 years of experience in
accounting, auditing, company secretarial and tax consultancy
field.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance its corporate value.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”). To the best
knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with the
code provisions in the CG Code during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
the required standard of dealings as set out in the Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”). The Company has made specific enquiries with all
Directors and the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company during the Financial
Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Yeung Mo Sheung Ann

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship among members of
the Board.
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Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor
the implementation of these policies and strategies and the
management of the Company. The Group has an independent
management team, which is led by a team of senior management
with substantial experience and expertise in the Group’s business
and the Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing the Group’s policies and strategies.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”). All
minutes of the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board and the decisions reached.

During the Financial Year, six Board meetings and one general
meeting were held in addition to circulation of written
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resolutions. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows: LEEHFELENEE
Attendance
i 2
General meeting Board meetings
i N EZEER

Executive Directors
HITES
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman) 11 6/6
SRS (F/E)
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer) 171 6/6
TRl (7TB AR )
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer) 171 6/6
AR (BEEIEARE)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BAFHITES
Chung Wai Man 11 6/6
EEX
Leung Wai Chuen 171 6/6
RER
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann 171 6/6
BRE

According to the code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the
chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the
independent non-executive directors without the presence of
other directors. The Company complied with the code provision
A.2.7 of the CG Code that the chairman of the Board held
meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

RIEEEERTRIFA27ET AR - TFE
ELBFEBYFNTESTRT - RNREHEM
EEHENER ARACETEEERTA
FA2TGETRANEXY  EERXTFOELEHM
EEZMRRATEBIFATESRITES



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT > ¥ E A&

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal
Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, the
non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term.

Each of the executive Directors namely, Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu
and Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two years from
11 September 2020, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ written notice served by either party on the other,
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of
two years from 11 September 2020, which may be terminated by
not less than three months’ written notice served by either party
on the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, the executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two
years from 19 June 2021, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice served by either party on
the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code,
all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. By virtue of article 83 of the Articles, the Directors
shall have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code,
every director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 84 of
the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he retires.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore,
among the three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Chung and Mr. Leung have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules. In accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors the written confirmation of his/her
independence. The Company, based on such confirmations,
considers Mr. Chung, Mr. Leung and Ms. Yeung to be
independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the Financial Year, the role of the chairman of the Board is
performed by Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and the office of the chief
executive officer of the Company is performed by Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond. The code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code has
been complied with.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the
business/ functions, while reserving certain key matters in making
strategic decision for its approval. When the Board delegates
aspects of its management and administration functions to
management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management need to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. The Company has arranged and/or introduced some
director’s training courses and has provided monthly financial
highlight, business update of the Group and training materials
for the Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and
skills.

During the Financial Year, all Directors have participated in

continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors and
officers of the Company that may arise out in the corporate
activities which has been complied with the CG Code. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee”)
was established by the Board on 11 September 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Leung. The other
members are Mr. Chung and Ms. Yeung. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are mainly to oversee the relationship with
the Company’s external auditor, review the Company’s financial
information and oversee the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the consolidated results
of the Group for the Financial Year with the management and
is of the view that such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures had been made.
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Five Audit Committee meetings were held in addition to B TEEZERAZE BERZEeRNATHE
circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year. BRI TRAISH% @ENERZESeR
Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are FEERHEFIFWOT -
as follows:
Members Attendance
ada Hi
Leung Wai Chuen (Chairman) 5/5
RIER(FE)
Chung Wai Man 5/5
BEX
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann 5/5
BEE
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The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Financial Year:

1.  Financial Reporting

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021 in conjunction
with the external auditor and the unaudited financial
statements for 3 months ended 30 June 2021, 6
months ended 30 September 2021 and 9 months
ended 31 December 2021;

o reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group;

o reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 which are set out in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021,

o reviewed the audit planning for the year ended 31
March 2022 in conjunction with the external auditor;

2. External Auditor

° reviewed and approved the remuneration of external
auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021;

° reviewed the re-appointment of external auditor
of the Company and was satisfied with its work,
its independence, and its objectivity, and therefore
recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited
(which had indicated its willingness to continue
in office) as the Group’s external auditor for
shareholders’ approval at the 2021 annual general
meeting;
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3. Internal Audit

o reviewed and ensured that the internal audit function,
performed by an independent external consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Adviser”), is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group; and

4. Risk Management and Internal Controls

o reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
reviewed regularly by management. With the view of enhancing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
during the Financial Year, the Company has engaged the Internal
Control Adviser to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and recommend actions to improve the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code for the Financial Year
in all material respects.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Board on 11
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is
chaired by Mr. Chung. The other members are Mr. Leung and
Ms. Yeung. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are, amongst other things, to review and make recommendations
to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior
management and to make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management.

Three Remuneration Committee meetings were held in addition
to circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year.
Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee
meetings are as follows:

FHWEES

ArAFMEZEe ((FMEZEE) RN =_F
—HEAA+—HHEFERY  LBREX
ERTARIETEERERLE -FHEZESRE
M-BBUFATEFAR THELEET
TECESKER/RREERBR L -HMMEE
SEXZER(HPERB)RIMAEZTRSALE
BENFMFBESR EAREMMERES

A

SRUHEBER ULRESFLRSREEREDN
FrEMEBRRRENESSRMHHERER

BTEEEEREE  HH
ERTToREE BEARFMWES
FRMFEMT -

Members Attendance
24 o =R
Chung Wai Man (Chairman) 3/3
BREX(EE)

Leung Wai Chuen 3/3
2ER

Yeung Mo Sheung Ann 3/3
CE )

Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
based on the performance of individual employees and are
reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s profitability, the
Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an
incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary goal of
the remuneration policy with regard to the remuneration package
of the executive Directors is to enable the Group to retain and
motivate the executive Directors by linking his compensation with
performance as measured against corporate objectives achieved.
The executive Directors are entitled to the remuneration packages
including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses.
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The remuneration packages of the Directors were determined by
reference to their experience, duties and responsibilities in the
Company and the prevailing market rate.

Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and responsibilities
in the Company as well as the market conditions, the executive
Directors’ remunerations were approved and revised by the Board
with effect from 1 January 2022. The remuneration of Mr. Hue
Kwok Chiu was changed to HK$678,000 per annum. The
remuneration of Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond was changed to
HK$2,337,600 per annum. The remuneration of Mr. Hui Kwok
Wing was changed to HK$522,000 per annum.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by all shareholders by way of written
resolution on 11 September 2014. The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel,
to provide additional incentive to employees (full-time and
part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group (the “Eligible Participants”) and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.

The Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion and subject to
the terms of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to the
Eligible Participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company.

The Company believes that by offering the Eligible Participants a
shareholding stake in the Company, the interests of the Eligible
Participants and the Company become aligning and thereby the
Eligible Participants have additional incentives to improve the
Company’s performance.
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Senior Management’s Remuneration SREERESM
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for RAMBREESZINIAETEBHNN FIATEH
the Financial Year falls within the following band: :
Number of
individuals
ATHEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000% 7t 4
Nomination Committee REZE®
The Board is empowered under the Articles to appoint any person BiE/# 4 S0 EEe AT EMAL

as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on or, as an additional
member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to
the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are mainly
based on the assessment of their professional qualifications and
experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for
directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of
skills and experience appropriate to the Group's business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 11 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by
Ms. Yeung. The other members are Mr. Chung and Mr. Leung.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly
responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

One Nomination Committee meeting was held in addition to
circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year.
Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting
are as follows:

REFNEMEFSMBTZRIER/NEKRE -
BERREARRBREZEES SRS HEFRE
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MEEFRHEBER

BTEME@MARE 24
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FERMFENT

A

Members Attendance
ada Hi g &
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (Chairman) 11
BRE(FE)

Leung Wai Chuen 171
RER

Chung Wai Man 11
EREX
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 20 December 2018 to assist the Board in identifying
suitably qualified candidates and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors as well as providing
the selection criteria and procedures adopted for making
recommendations by the Nomination Committee. A summary of
the selection criteria and procedures for recommendation and
selection of candidates for directorship is disclosed below.

Selection Criteria
In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors:

(@) Reputation for integrity;
(b)  Accomplishment, skills and experience in the industry;

(c)  Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

(d) Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.
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Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not
nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons
shall not assume that they have been proposed by the Board to
stand for election at the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and
to invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent
to shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and reqgulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in
the circular to shareholders.

A shareholder can serve a notice to the secretary of the Company
within the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without the
Board’s recommendation or the Director’'s nomination, other
than those candidates set out in the shareholder circular. The
particulars of the candidates so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time

before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
secretary of the Company.
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The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the "gross-vote” method will be used to determine who
shall be elected as a Director, shareholder proposed resolutions
shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed
for the candidates recommended by the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy and aims to set
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualification,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(i) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

(i) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the board
diversity policy for the Financial Year.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the board diversity
policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval.
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EO COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Electricity Ordinance (“EO") compliance committee of the
Company (the “"EO Compliance Committee”) was established
by the Board on 11 September 2014. The EO Compliance
Committee currently comprises two executive Directors and one
independent non-executive Director and is chaired by Mr. Hui
Kwok Keung Raymond. The other members are Mr. Hui Kwok
Wing and Mr. Chung. The primary duties of the EO Compliance
Committee are to oversee and monitor the Group’s compliance
of EO and other relevant regulations through regular meetings
and special meetings.

Four EO Compliance Committee meetings were held during the
Financial Year. Details of the attendance of the EO Compliance
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Committees meetings are as follows: I :

Members Attendance
i R i
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chairman) 4/4
FTElE (E/E)

Hui Kwok Wing 4/4
T B

Chung Wai Man 4/4
EREX
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for each financial
year to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of its financial performance and cash flows for that
financial year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the Financial Year, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgements and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements and
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor,
BDO Limited, in respect of their audit services for the Financial
Year amounted to HK$680,000. Save as disclosed above, there
was no other non-audit service provided by the auditor during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’'s risk management and internal control systems.
Such risk management and internal control systems are designed
for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk management policy has been established to formalise
the risk management of the Group, build up a standard and
effective risk management system and improve the ability of risk
prevention, so as to ensure the Group is operating in a safety and
steady environment, the operation management level could be
increased and the Group’s operational strategy and target could
be achieved. The current practices will be reviewed and updated
regularly to follow the latest practices in corporate governance.
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The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board)
oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Financial Year.

Possible risks and uncertainties

The Group’s possible risks and uncertainties range from raw
material risk, market risk, operational risk, credit risk and
financial risk.

Business Risk

The Group's business risks include rapid change in the general
market conditions, especially the Hong Kong retail market, and
also the downturn pressure on the overall economy of the Hong
Kong and other overseas markets. The Board is responsible for
the overall management of the business and review of material
business decisions involving material risks exposures from time to
time.

Financial Risk

The Board monitors closely the Group’s foreign exchange risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Board also
reviews monthly performance, capital structure and key operating
data of the Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group
engages professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the
latest developments in the regulatory environment, including
legal, financial, environmental and operational developments. The
Group also adopts a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised
use or dissemination of confidential or inside information.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the business
and operations, relevant internal control procedures have been
set up for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining
proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial
information used for business and publication. These procedures
are monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary.
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The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key processes
of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Adviser to carry out
the internal audit functions by performing an annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems of the selected
cycles of the selected subsidiaries for the Financial Year. Such
review is conducted annually. The scope of review of Internal
Control Adviser included revenue and receipt cycle, human
resources and payroll cycle and financial reporting cycle for
certain subsidiaries with principal activities of retail chain business
in lighting, designed label furniture and household products in
Hong Kong.
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Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings and
areas for improvement to the Company. All recommendations
from Internal Control Adviser would be followed up closely
by the management of the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Group
therefore considered that the risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the Group
in its current business environment and that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are inadequate.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision C.2.1 of CG Code for the Financial Year in all
material respects. The Company has reviewed the effectiveness
of the systems of risk management and internal control of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial and
operation for the Financial Year.

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and for compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control
element, a series of disclosure procedures of price sensitive
information on reporting and dissemination of inside information
and preservation of confidentiality. Under the inside information
disclosure policy, head of the accounting department of the
Company shall report to company secretary of the Company
and Directors any potential/suspected inside information event
as soon as practicable when it materialises for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All
staff are also required to observe the code of ethical standards
stated in staff handbook to keep non-public information
confidential.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

NEEZEBERCNERZESERT EMTA
REFHRENHE W%WT@WMWEE
HeRZRE  UERNR—RE EMWW%
Bt At AEERR AEBEEREIE
EABEEBERARNANEENE B AIER
RETHNER UAREFEHREIZINEME
BLEEEAEENREREREMAIMEE RS
e e

RIEEN BERZEQAR RAVREE
AEE®MRARERE R W%WTMFEKEKE
EEATALEERTREC2.1ETRIEX Z
REXLBREE ARACEHNASERRE
BERAMEERSRNAERE S RAEERE
2EIE - BRNATREENT B REENR

NEEEHEBE

BERER AF EBRLEEFBEANEES
MEEBREGNRBETE AEBBERKEN
NEEEMRERE— %ﬂhfﬂméﬂ&%
BF FARIEZRZ —H2 BREANEHEE
WERBEK  ANARSHEETENERBEEME
E/RUABEESHN  AEEEAITERLT
BRAAQRB A WENESRER UETE
ERERAOME REEFENELEE-FE
ElﬁﬁLﬁéliﬁﬁ%m BRI
NAERRE o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT > ¥ E A&

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
The Company values communication with the shareholders
and investors of the Company. The Company uses two-way
communication channels to account to shareholders and investors
for the performance of the Company. Enquiries and suggestions
from shareholders or investors are welcomed, and enquiries from
shareholders may be put to the Board through the following
channels to the executive Directors:

1. By mail to the Company's principal place of business at
10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong; or

2. By email at investor@elighting.asia.

The Company uses a number of formal communication channels
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance
of the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly,
interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting
or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for
shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board; (iii) updating the key information of the Group available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;
(iv) the Company's website offering communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and investors; and
(v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency.
The Board is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner
and on a regular basis information of the Group to shareholders
through the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general
meeting for which at least 20 clear business days’ notice shall
be given. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, the Directors
are available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group’s
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2
of the CG Code, the management will ensure the external
auditor to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration
by shareholders. According to article 58 of the Articles, any
one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a director of the Company at a general meeting,
he/she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) at the
Company’s head office located at 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199
Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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The Notice shall:

(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules; and

(i)  be signed by the shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

In order to ensure the Company’s shareholders have sufficient
time to receive and consider the proposal of election of the
Candidate as a director of the Company without adjourning the
general meeting, shareholders are urged to submit and lodge
the Notice as early as practicable preferably at least 15 business
days prior to the date of the general meeting appointed for such
election.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (www.elighting.asia) which includes the latest
information relating to the Group and its businesses.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 20 December 2018. The Dividend Policy aims to allow
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture
future growth opportunities.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board shall consider the following
factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;
(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group, together with its

subsidiaries;

() the Group’s working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;
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(d) the Group's liquidity position;

(e) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

(f)  other factors that the Board may considered relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws and the Company’s
articles of association.

Company Secretary

Mr. Tang has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 17 November 2021. During the Financial
Year, Mr. Tang has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding while
the Group is principally engaged in retail chain business in
lighting, designer label furniture and household products in
Hong Kong and wholesale of tableware, giftware and other
trading worldwide. The principal activities and other particulars
of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE RELEVANT LAW AND
REGULATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the operations of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 27 to 48. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks
to make short term gains at the expense of the long term
objectives.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Financial Year
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 5 to 6, CEO’s
Statement on pages 7 to 8 and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 9 to 21 of this annual report.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report, in particular
the “Risk Management and Internal Control” section under the
Corporate Governance Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Financial Year and the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 135.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Financial Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Financial Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
of this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was entered
into by the Company during the Financial Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 31 March 2022, the Company had no distributable reserve
that was for distribution to shareholders.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and
business partners (including suppliers and contractors) are
key stakeholders to the Group’s success. The Group strives to
achieve corporate sustainability through engaging its employees,
providing quality products and services to the customers,
collaborating with business partners to deliver quality sustainable
products and services and supporting the community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Financial Year, the top five customers together
accounted for approximately 3.5% of the Group’s revenue and
the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 1.3%
of the Group’s revenue.

During the Financial Year, the top five suppliers together
accounted for approximately 47.2% of the Group’s purchases
and the Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately
15.6% of the Group's purchases.

During the Financial Year, none of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of shares in issue) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Yeung Mo Sheung Ann

By virtue of article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, the
executive Directors, and independent non-executive Directors
have entered into a service agreement with the Company for a
fixed term of two years from 11 September 2020, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, the executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two
years from 19 June 2021, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice served by either party on
the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting) has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within 1 year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 22 to 26.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company (the “Chief
Executives”) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Required Standard of
Dealings were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company REATNEERNEFR
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
HE BokEmEE HEHE RESYMBESH
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond  Interest in controlling corporation 210,000,000 46.56%
FFEYSR B Rt EkE (Note)
(4 5E)
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu Beneficial Owner 45,000,000 9.98%
=B &) 5% A EREAA
Note: MfaT -

These shares are held by Time Prestige Ventures Limited, a company wholly-owned

by Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executives had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Required Standard of Dealings.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, to the best of the knowledge of the
Directors and the Chief Executives and based on the public
records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and records
kept by the Company, the interests and short positions of the
persons or corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company RAEAQNBZEERNVNEFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
& FoRERME EEHE REMOB DL
Time Prestige Ventures Limited Beneficial Owner 210,000,000 46.56%
EmE A
Ms. Ng Hiu Ying (Note) Interest of spouse 45,000,000 9.98%
REB LT () Fic 45 4 25
Note: B EE -

Ms. Ng Hiu Ying is the spouse of Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu. Under the SFO, Ms. Ng Hiu
Ying is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hue
Kwok Chiu is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, no person or
corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to the Eligible Participants and to promote the success of the
business of the Group.

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme on
11 September 2014 whereby the Board is authorised, at its
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, to grant options to the Eligible Participants to subscribe
for the shares of the Company. The Share Option Scheme will be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue upon the date of the
shares of the Company listed on GEM, being 40,000,000 shares
(or such numbers of shares as shall result from a subdivision or
a consolidation of such 40,000,000 shares from time to time)
(the “"Scheme Limit"”). Subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting, the Board may (i) renew this limit at any time
to 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
the approval by the shareholders in general meeting; and/or (ii)
grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to Eligible Participants
specifically identified by the Board.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the total number
of shares in issue from time to time. No options shall be granted
under any schemes of the Company (including the Share Option
Scheme) if this will result in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to each Eligible Participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue. Any further grant of options is subject to
shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such Eligible
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the participants may
subscribe for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option
at the price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 shares,
representing approximately 8.87% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company. Since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme, no share option has been granted by the Company.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Financial Year
was the Company, or any of its holding companies or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
and the Chief Executives (including their spouses and children
under 18 years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in
the shares, or underlying shares, or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Financial Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, its holding companies, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or the Director’s
connected party had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any
time during the Financial Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director, is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the
Director.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability

insurance throughout the Financial Year, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the Financial Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond and the company through which he holds equity
interests in the Company, namely, Time Prestige Ventures
Limited, have entered into a deed of non-competition with the
Company on 11 September 2014. The details of the deed of
non-competition have been disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 22 September 2014.

The controlling shareholders have confirmed the Company
that they had complied with the non-competition undertakings
during the Financial Year. The Board (including the independent
non-executive Directors) has reviewed and confirmed the
compliance with the non-competition undertakings by the
controlling shareholders.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The “related party transactions” as disclosed in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
did not constitute a connected transaction or a continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements thereunder.

There are no other non-exempt connected and continuing
connected transactions during the Financial Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

Particulars of retirement benefits plan of the Group as at 31
March 2022 are set out in note 4(m)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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CONFIRMATION INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
nonexecutive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considered that all the
independent non-executive Directors were independent during
the Financial Year.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER'S INTERESTS

After the completion of the engagement of Ample Capital
Limited as the compliance adviser of the Company in compliance
with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules on 30 June 2017, the
Company did not have compliance adviser.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of
the environment and the society. The Group has endeavoured
to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopted effective environmental policies to ensure
its projects meet the required standards and ethics in respect of
environmental protection.

The Group aims to capture the flourishing LED market,
by monitoring the latest development of policies for LED
products and providing customers with more eco-friendly and
cost-effective LED products. The Group has also assembled
the product portfolio in order that the majority of the lighting
appliance products to be LED compatible, and the Group has
designated several of existing retail shops as LED specialty stores
which primarily showcase LED lighting appliance products.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

A standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
the Group shall be published separately and will be posted on
the websites of the Company (www.elighting.asia) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Hong Kong Legislative Council has, on 9 June 2022, passed
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (the “Bill”) to abolish the
MPF offsetting mechanism. It is envisaged that the cancellation
of mechanism will not come into effect until 2025 at the earliest.
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The abolishment of the MPF offsetting mechanism will not have
retrospective effect, and the Bill will not change the rate and
maximum payment of statutory severance payments or long
service payments, which is currently calculated as 2/3 of the
employee’s last monthly wages (capped at HK$22,500), and
subject to the maximum limit of HK$390,000.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact
of the Bill to the Group. The Group is not yet in a position to
state whether the abolishment of the MPF offsetting mechanism
will result in substantial change to the Group’s financial
statements.

Save as otherwise disclosed, the Group does not have any
material subsequent event after the reporting period and up to
the date of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out in the financial summary on page 136 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

By Order of the Board

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

E LIGHTING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of E
Lighting Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 135,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

(Refer to Note 5(a), Note 15 and Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements)

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$383,000 and HK$18,804,000 respectively.

Two retail shops (cash-generating units (“CGUs"”) of the Group)
had reported continued losses in the current year which was
considered as an impairment indicator on the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets. Management has performed
an impairment assessment on these non-financial assets as at
31 March 2022 to determine the recoverable amount using
value-in-use calculations.

Based on the result of management’s assessment, impairment
loss for the year of approximately HK$8,000 and HK$421,000
were recognised to reduce the carrying amounts of certain
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
respectively to their recoverable amounts.

Because of the significance of the balance, the existence of
impairment indicator and the determination of recoverable
amount of these assets, using value-in-use calculations, as well
as the key assumptions applied to the cash flow forecast require
significant judgements and estimates by the management about
the future results of the related business, we have identified this
matter as a key audit matter.
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Our response:

- tested management’s assessment as to which groups of

property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have
indicators of impairment, together with management’s
grouping of such assets in the relevant CGUs;

- for those CGUs that included property, plant and equipment

and right-of-use assets with impairment indicators, tested
the relevant discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by
management, including:

- assessed the reasonableness of key input data in the
cash flow forecasts by comparing them with historical
actual information;

- compared the expected revenue growth rates
to relevant market expectations such as industry
information;

- tested the discount rate with reference to our
understanding of the business including the future
business plans of the relevant CGUs, comparisons
to other similar companies and broader market
considerations;

- evaluated the methodologies adopted and checked
the mathematical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations used to estimate the recoverable amounts;
and

- performed sensitivity analysis on the key input data
and assumptions to the impairment assessment,
to understand the impact of reasonable alternative
assumptions that would have on the estimated
recoverable amounts.
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Impairment assessment of inventories
(Refer to Note 5(b) and Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had inventories of
approximately HK$10,955,000 net of provision of HK$2,007,000.
Management estimated the net realisable value of inventories
at the end of the reporting period, and make provision for
write-down in value, if any.

We had identified inventory valuation as a key audit matter as
impairment assessment on inventories was subject to significant
management judgment and the amount involved could be
significant.

Our response:

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s provision policy on
inventories and basis of the assessment;

- Reviewed and assessed obsolete or out-dated inventories
identified by management and estimation of the net
realisable value of these inventories;

- Evaluated historical accuracy of inventory provisioning by
comparing historical provision made to the loss incurred for
actual sales;

- Reviewed inventory ageing analysis and analysing the level
of aged inventory and their associated provisions;

- Tested the carrying amount of aged and obsolete
inventories on a sample basis to the source documents; and

- Reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories,
with reference to subsequent sales information and the
external price data, and performed testing by tracing to the
source documents on a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT & 37 4% S Bl ¥R &

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT & 37 4% S Al ¥R &

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Leung Tze Wai

Practising Certificate Number PO6158

Hong Kong
23 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

ceBEmkHEMtEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #

P FE - = A= —HIFFEF

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2022 2021
—E-= —E -
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET T T
Revenue -] 7 83,891 82,227
Cost of sales 84 & AR A (37.652) (38,173)
Gross profit FE A 46,239 44,054
Other income, gains and losses HAa A ~ W K EE 8 305 2,147
Selling and distribution expenses SHE ko HRA X (27.422) (23,005)
Administrative and other expenses TR R A A (15,373) (14,169)
Expected credit losses recognised on PREERANEREE
financial assets E518 (1,139) (121)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE (761) (642)
Profit before income tax % Bt 51T 2 £ 9 1,849 8,264
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEHiEe, (k) 12 546 (107)
Profit and total comprehensive income for 7K A F#E B A JE(h EE
the year attributable to the owners of A R 2 E U S AR
the Company 2,395 8,157
Earnings per share G M & A 13
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —E AR K #E B 0.53 1.81
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

B B AR R &R

As at 31 March 2022 R=F - —#F=H=+—H

nVT

2022 2021
—E=c —E - —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E THExT FET
Non-current assets kRBEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - WE N & 15 383 61
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 18,804 18,129
Rental deposits HEHS 20 2,540 3,808
Deferred tax assets EEF IR A E 24 970 238
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 22,697 22,236

Current assets REBEE
Inventories Ve 19 10,955 7,891
Trade and other receivables FE WG 2k 18 & H i fE Uk SR8 20 6,843 6,290
Cash and bank balances B e RIRTTHE R 13,855 17,557
Total current assets MEEELE 31,653 31,738
Total assets EEHE 54,350 53,974

Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables JE 15 R T8 N B Ath FE {5 3R 21 5,648 7,355
Contract liabilities EHaE 22 1,268 1,058
Lease liabilities HEERE 23 13,758 11,844
Current tax liabilities BNEAFRIB & (& 40 258
Total current liabilities REEERE 20,714 20,515
Net current assets RBEEFE 10,939 11,223
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBAS 33,636 33,459
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4R & B7 75 AR J% 3%
As at 31 March 2022 R=—ZF - —F=H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B E FHExT BT

Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 6,591 8,809
Total non-current liabilities ERFEEEE 6,591 8,809
Total liabilities EE8E 27,305 29,324
NET ASSETS EEFE 27,045 24,650

EQUITY =

Share capital % Z< 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves HE 22,535 20,140
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 27,045 24,650

On behalf of the Board
REEES

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (& B 38)

Director &

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZF —F - —4#F=H=+1—HIFZF

= N7 i'z
n‘/-ﬁ *E ﬁ b4

EJ B

Share Share Other Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses equity
LN R RE Hit 2itER ERAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER THER TR THER
(Note)
(PzE)
At 1 April 2020 R-_Z-_TFWA—H 4,510 67,066 2 (55,085) 16,493
Profit and total comprehensive & & %] &
income for the year FHEREAE - - - 8,157 8,157
As at 31 March 2021 and R-ZB-—%=F=1+—-HR
1 April 2021 —E-—FmWA—H 4,510 67,066 2 (46,928) 24,650
Profit and total comprehensive 4 &3 &2
income for the year ARG RE - - - 2,395 2,395
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-_—F=F=+—H 4,510 67,066 2 (44,533) 27,045
Note: Bt 5 -

The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value

of shares issued by the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued

share capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation which

became effective on 8 September 2014.

AEBHEMBEREARRNEETROEEERER TN

FARNBERNEBESAMEBHBAREBITRATE

BB CRNERE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

:‘\/T/\EEE/JILE%E

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —F - —#F=H=+—HIFF/Z

2022 2021
===z —E_—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT FATT
Cash flows from operating activities REZKETENRESARE
Profit before tax B 35 A 71 1,849 8,264
Adjustments for: MY EIEEL A
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y% - BERZERE
equipment 18 8 160
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEREEE 421 1,762
Depreciation of property, plant and YE - BEMRENITE
equipment 227 230
Depreciation of right-of-use assets THEEEERNE 13,070 10,050
(Reversal of)/provision on impairment loss 17 &R EEE (8 R@ )~
on inventories A (216) 178
Expected credit losses recognised on trade [EUEIIE 7 B Ei{= E & 18
receivables R 62 121
Expected credit losses recognised on other E b f& U FX I8 #E 52 & 78 HA
receivables EEEE 1,077 -
Income from rent concession RKEHSEBEMHRA (387) -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 761 642
Operating cash flows before working & EESE A 2 K&
capital changes REeERE 16,872 21,407
Increase in inventories FEEm (2,848) (610)
Increase in trade and other receivables JE YR I8 J% H A FE Y 518
3 (424) (81)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other JE 1 5% 78 I H At & A< 50IE
payables R 2) /4 hn (1,707) 771
Increase in contract liabilities SR EEM 210 185
Cash generated from operations REMBHES 12,103 21,672
Income tax (paid)/refund (BEft) /BEERBFFREFR (404) 50
Net cash generated from operating RETHAEBEESTE
activities 11,699 21,722
Cash flows from investing activities HRERETENRELSARE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment fg & ¥ % - W E k&G (557) (31)
Net cash used in investing activities REZEHFANBEESESE (557) (31)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #r &8 &€ mE K
For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z —F - —4#=H=+—HIFFZE

2022 2021
=& = —F-—%F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
s TERT FATT
Cash flows from financing activities REREZHFNEESRE
Repayment of principal portion of the BEHEAEZEREMD
lease liabilities 30 (14,090) (11,251)
Interest paid B E 30 (754) (633)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEEFFANR S EE (14,844) (11,884)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBELEEY (RD)
cash equivalents N E (3,702) 9,807
Cash and cash equivalents at FUZHEeRESEEY
beginning of year 17,557 7,750
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FRZEERBELZEY
year 13,855 17,557
Analysis of the balances of cash and B&RIRESEBEY LR
cash equivalents: DR
Cash and bank balances e RIRITA R 13,855 17,557
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE B SRR M R

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 29 November 2013 under the Companies
Law. Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office
and principal place of business are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section of this annual report.

The Company’s issued shares have been listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 29
September 2014.

The directors consider that the Company’s parent and ultimate
parent is Time Prestige Venture Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding while the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is principally engaged
in retail chain business in lighting, designer label furniture and
household products in Hong Kong and wholesale of tableware,
giftware and other trading. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In prior years, expected credit losses recognised on financial assets
were included in other income, gains and losses. From current year
onwards, the expected credit losses recognised on financial assets
would be separately presented on the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income to reflect its
individual impact on the Group's financial performance. Certain
comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the
current year's presentation.

The Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 23 June 2022.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - Effective
on 1 April 2021
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
for following amendments to HKRSs issued by Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, which are relevant
to and effective for the Group’s financial statements for
annual period beginning on 1 April 2021:

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions Beyond
30 June 2021

2021 Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
and HKFRS 16

The amendments to HKFRSs that are effective from 1 April
2021 did not have any significant impact on the Group’s
accounting policies or financial results and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective
The following new or revised to HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract'

Amendments to HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2018-2020
Cycle Amendments to lllustrative

Examples accompanying HKFRS
16 Leases'

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework”

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current’
HK-Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(2020) Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on

Demand Clause’

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

Effective for business combinations for which the date of
acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continueq)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of adopting the above amendments to HKFRSs to
the Group. The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions and/or the disclosure to these consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. These consolidated financial
statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong
Kong dollars (HK$°000), unless otherwise stated.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Group. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on
the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the dates of
acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value.

The Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The
Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed
unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in
which case the costs are deducted from equity.

4. BEBREFTBEE
(a) ¥BAHRESERZEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an asset
or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interest
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amounts of
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

(c)

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised
in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see note 4(g)),
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %7

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill (Continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that financial year. When the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the unit.
However, the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce
the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in use (if
determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the asset has been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is charged to
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred. In situations
where it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the subsequent expenditure will flow to the Group
and the cost can be measured reliably, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of the asset.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B4 7% 3R] 2 B 3+

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. The useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold land and Over the lease terms
buildings
Leasehold improvements 4 years or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sale proceeds and carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (i) leases for which the underlying asset is of low value.
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which
at the commencement date have a lease term of less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & Bf 7% 3R 3= B 3+

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e)

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the right-to-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the
exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B4 7% 3R] 2 B 3+

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(e) Leasing (continued)

Lease ||ab|||ty (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group

(f)

measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying

amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing

the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;

and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any

reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future

lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a

change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed

lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the

underlying asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(i)

(ii)

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over
their useful lives as follows. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in
administrative expenses.
Customers relationship 5 years
Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment
by comparing their carrying amounts with their

recoverable amounts (see note 4(g)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(Continued)

(ii) Impairment (continued)
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its
revaluation surplus.

Impairment of other assets (other than
financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and investments in subsidiaries to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see note 4(c)),
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

()

Inventories
Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently

at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises

all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs

incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location

and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out

method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling

price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated

costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & Bf 7% 3R 3= B 3+

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

0]

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECLs"”) on trade receivables, other
receivables and financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs:
these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other receivables, the ECLs are based on the
12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B4 7% 3R] 2 B 3+

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 180
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 12 months past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

0]

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Income tax
Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for tax purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised
assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting period.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also
recognised directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or services may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or services is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B4 7% 3R] 2 B 3+

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Sales of lighting and furniture products
and tableware and giftware products

Customers obtain control of the products when the
goods are delivered to and have been accepted.
Revenue is thus recognised upon when the customers
accepted the products. There is generally only one
Invoices are usually payable
In the comparative period, revenue

performance obligation.
within 30 days.
from sales of goods is recognised on transfer of risks
and rewards of ownership, which was taken as at the
time of delivery and the title is passed to customer.

Some of the Group’s contracts with customers from
the sale of product provides customers a right of
return (a right to exchange another product). These
rights of return do not allow the returned goods to be
refund in cash. The right of return gives rise to variable
consideration. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until the
associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The
application of the constraint on variable consideration
increases the amount of revenue that will be deferred.

Other income

a) Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned
basis by reference to the principal outstanding
at the applicable interest rate.

b) Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets (including property, plant and
equipment) are recognised as deferred income
in the statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k)

()

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(ii) Other income (continued)
(b)  (Continued)

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable and
are recognised as other revenue, rather than
reducing the related expense.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short-term
employee benefits are recognised in the period when
the employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absence such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B4 7% 3R] 2 B 3+

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (continued)

(n)

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plan. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF
Scheme is administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. Contributions to the MPF Scheme are
recognised as an expense in profit of loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of

(iii)

when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income, in which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those
ruling when the transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate
ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on the translation
of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s
net investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will
probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can
be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(p) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(i)~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(a) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group reviews internal and external sources of
information at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased, except in the case of goodwill. The Group
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount when any such
indication exists. The recoverable amount of an asset, or of
the CGU to which it belongs, is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and these risks specific to the assets. The preparation of
projected future cash flows involves the estimation of future
revenue and operating costs which are based on reasonable
assumptions supported by information available to the
Group. Changes in the estimates would result in additional
impairment provisions or reversal of impairment in future
years.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Provision for inventories

The Group reviews and identifies at the end of each
financial period, provision for inventories (if any) is based
on recent sales performance, management experience with
characteristic customer purchase behaviour and assessment
of the product’'s alignment with current market trend.
The management estimates the net realisable value for
inventories based primarily on the latest market prices and
current market conditions. The assessment of the provision
amount required involves management judgment and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future
is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/written back in the period in which the estimate has
been changed.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
The Group recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables,
using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the end of the reporting period. The amount
of the impairment loss based on ECLs model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

Taxation

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions, and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account
all changes in tax legislations. Where the final tax outcome
of these transactions is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such difference will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.

EABH UG REHFEER
EZ2FERE@®

(b)

(c)

(d)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(d) Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and tax rate to be used in the calculations.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting, in accordance with the Group's internal
organisation and reporting structure, provided to the chief
operating decision-maker to make strategic decisions.

The Group has two reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:
Lighting and furniture . retail of lighting products and
business household furniture in Hong Kong
Tableware, giftware and . retail and wholesale of tableware

other business and giftware and other trading

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central revenue and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segments’ profit that is used
by the chief operating decision-maker for assessment of segment
performance.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Business segment

6. TEHEX W
(a) ¥¥KDE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_T_—_F#=A=+—HItFEE
Tableware,
Lighting and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
Beik EH- 2@
REX®E RHEMXHK “st
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FExT FHExT
Revenue from external customers KRB INBEFUWA 83,420 471 83,891
Reportable segment result EWDFEE 19,486 (1,497) 17,989
Other segment information: Hihp BEHR :
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BELRENTE
equipment 227 - 227
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENTE 13,070 - 13,070
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BENRERE
equipment B8 8 - 8
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREERR 415 - 415
Additions to property, plant and equipment RE W% - BE & 2 # 557 - 557
Additions to right-of-use assets NEEREEE 3,867 - 3,867
Expected credit losses recognised on trade [ U FR I8 K2 £ b & U 7008
and other receivables ZTBHREEBEER 62 1,077 1,139
ERAEEZERER AR  2021/22F %K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Business segment (continued)

6. DEER @

(a) 255

(#)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_T-_—#=A=+—HIFE
Tableware,
Lighting and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
EEik EA-BH
RAXEDE REMES FEET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHEIT FH&T
Revenue from external customers REINBE WA 76,091 6,136 82,227
Reportable segment result ERDBEE 23,086 140 23,226
Other segment information: HihpBER :
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERRENTE
equipment 230 - 230
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 10,050 - 10,050
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y% - BB REERE
equipment 518 158 - 158
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREERE 1,612 = 1,612
Additions to property, plant and equipment SFEW % - HE & & & 31 - 31
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEEAEEE 8,773 - 8,773
Expected credit losses recognised on trade JEUXIE ~ TEHZ & 18
receivables TER 121 - 121
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEER @w
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment results (b) EROWBHEEZHER
2022 2021
i —F-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Reportable segment result ERDWEE 17,989 23,226
Other gains or losses — impairment loss on  Hih e z5 R IESE - W - KR
property, plant and equipment =R EEE - (2)
Other gains or losses — impairment loss on ~ H s KB - ERAEEE
right-of-use assets BIEEE (6) (150)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFL (761) (642)
Unallocated warehousing and general office RO A E LA =X
expenses (11,269) (10,448)
Other unallocated corporate expenses (note) H4th & 2 Bl (> % 5l % (M E) (4,104) (3,720)
Consolidated profit before income tax B P15 % B 4R B m Al 1,849 8,264

Note: Other unallocated corporate expenses mainly consist of

professional expenses and other administrative expenses.

(c)

REMITHRAX °

Mis: Rt RS ECEMIXTEREEXER

Segment assets and liabilities () PHBEEREE
2022 2021
—g=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Assets BE
Lighting and furniture business (el EEE Y 52,749 51,223
Tableware, giftware and other business ZH EBREEMER 1,601 2,751
Consolidated total assets RAEREE 54,350 53,974
Liabilities 8E&
Lighting and furniture business (el EEE Y 26,735 29,185
Tableware, giftware and other business ZEH ERREMER 570 139
Consolidated total liabilities REBAaE 27,305 29,324

ERASEZRERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEPEF W
(d) Geographic information (d) #HEEHR
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TREIAEERBEIINTER ZWAZ
revenue from external customers, determined based on DT THIRIBEE P FTEMETE :

location of the customers:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$’000
FTHET T8 T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (FTiEH) 83,492 76,226
North America EZENM 399 6,001
83,891 82,227
(e) Information about major customers (e) EBEEZTEEZEFHNEHR
The Group had no customer for whom the revenue raised NEFTEMAEBBERERNEZE —
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group's T F=-A=+—HILFELEXES
total revenue during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: BI0%NEPL (ZTE_—F : &)
Nil).
7. REVENUE 7. X8
Disaggregation of revenue WA 55
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by WEGEEREARNABERBESHNEESRKA
products and timing of revenue recognition are as follows: SHR -
2022 2021
—=E—-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Revenue from contracts with customers: EFERAWA :
Sales of lighting and furniture products §H & /& #h ) K B E m 83,420 76,091
Sales of tableware and giftware and other HEREE R REMER
products 471 6,136
83,891 82,227
Timing of revenue recognition: R AR :
At a point in time TR B 83,891 82,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

REVENUE (continued 7. EXHw
Disaggregation of revenue (continued) WA 55 @
The following table provides information about trade receivables TREMKEBERRFEBUARKAEZEFALNE
and contract liabilities from contracts with customers. HNEEEH -
2022 2021
—=E_-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Trade receivables (note 20) JE W sk 38 (B 5£20) 367 355
Contract liabilities (note 22) S48 E (ME22) 1,268 1,058
A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is EWFRRNEREER RRAEEMNZKA
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because BB A H 4@ — R R UARERR - Mz
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. BHREAEIEMH -
The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration AHNBABETITEHKEE LM EMNKEEB - M
received from customers. Contract liabilities of the HK$395,000 as R-ZZEZ—FHHA—-HE#AE3950008TE
of 1 April 2021 has been recognised as revenue for the year ended ERARBE_TE__F=A=+t—HILFEH
31 March 2022 (2021: contract liabilities of the HK$266,000 as of WA(ZZZ—F: ZT-_TFWA—HEHE
1 April 2020 has been recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 £266,0008 TEERAEBHE T _-_—F=8
March 2021). =T —HIEFESHEA) -
OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMWA - WaEKkEiE
2022 2021
—E_= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Government grants BT 5 BY
Employment Support Scheme (note a) Rt T E (Fi5Ea) — 2,297
Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme (note b) T2t (KsEb) = 1,040
- 3,337
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEERERE (421) (1,762)
Impairment loss on property, plant and M - BE &K EREEE
equipment (8) (160)
Others (note c) EH (B 5Ec) 734 732
305 2,147
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WIN

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The amount for the year ended 31 March 2021 represented the
government grants obtained from Employment Support Scheme
(“ESS") under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong
SAR Government supporting the payroll of the Group’s employees.
The Group did not have any unfulfilled obligations relating to this

scheme.

The amount for the year ended 31 March 2021 represented the
government grants obtained from the Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR
Government. Under the Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme, an one-off
subsidy of HK$80,000 was granted to the Group's each eligible retail
store. The Group did not have any unfulfilled obligations relating to
this scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised
negative variable lease payments of HK$387,000 (2021: HK$396,000)
in others under other income, gains and losses in respect of the

Covid-19-related rent concessions provided by lessors.
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B RE

(a)

BE-Z-—F=A=+—BHILFEZELER
BERFITRRBTELNORARES TH
RELEE 8 (MRBLEFTE]) MBUFHE - A%
FASEE TWHM - AEE Y S E (I EZA
EIRBEMARETRE -

BEZZ-_—F=A=+—HILFEZELER
BEREITRRBTHELORARES TH
TEREMAENBSMHEE - RETEXEY
E BRAERTEEMGERE —RE8E
TEB) - RSB B ERZE A B RE
TEE-

HE-_Z-_—_F=A=1+—HILEFE £A5H
A AREHCOVID- 195N AEERRNE
A W REEBETEREFHHEENK
387,000/ 7T (=& — —4 : 396,000/ 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

9. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRBIADEF A (EE)
Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): MEADE M E R (Ee) -
2022 2021
-2 =85 = =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Auditor’s remuneration % S 6N & 680 620
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHFEREME 31,664 32,673
(Reversal of provision)/provision for impairment 17 & BB E 18 CE#ERE) XEHFE
loss on inventories (216) 178
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ERARINEFEERA 31,448 32,851
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - Bz kX EHTE 227 230
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTRAEEENE 13,070 10,050
Lease expenses: HELH -
— Short-term leases expenses - HHEE 1,598 2,537
— Variable lease payments - FEHEEMNK 68 34
Expected credit losses recognised on RTEEZBHREEBHERER
— trade receivables - FENFRIE 62 121
— other receivables — H fh I GRIE 1,077 =
10. EMPLOYEE COSTS 10. EE A
2022 2021
—=E_— —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Employee costs (including directors’ EEXN(BREEGTMH) 215 :
emoluments) comprise:
Salaries and other benefits e REMER 18,453 16,376
Contributions to defined contribution [A) & B8 FUR IRET 8 2 3k (KI5E)
retirement plan (note) 662 587
19,115 16,963

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2022, no forfeited contribution in
respect of the defined contribution retirement plan was utilised by
the Group to reduce the contribution payable to the plan (2021: Nil).
As at 31 March 2022, no forfeited contribution under this plan is
available to reduce future contribution (2021: Nil).

GEX

BHE-ZT-_—_F=A=1+—HLFE FX£H
18 4 2 AR L e 4 ORI et 21 /0 08 I (3R BARL
BN EER(CE=—F &) - R=T==
F=A=+—H8 " ZTEETHED RRHRK
AEIRARER(ZT=—F : &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE M. ESFMRAEBRSHFMAL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=HTH
Executive directors BITES
The emoluments paid or payable to executive directors RAFEE I NEEMTFTHRITESOHEF
during the year are as follows: Ban R :

Contributions
to defined
Salaries contribution

and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
o) 3 88 it K
Fek BIKGHEIZ
ik Hiti g R EE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT THERT THER
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-T-—f=A=+-HLt
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond ~ zFElg - 2,464 18 2,482
Hue Kwok Chiu ATl - 715 18 733
Hui Kwok Wing EAEIES - 551 18 569
- 3,730 54 3,784
Year ended 31 March 2021  HE-T-—F=F=+—HIt
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond ~ zFElg - 2,155 18 2,173
Hue Kwok Chiu EaEik] - 623 18 641
Hui Kwok Wing EaEiEd - 480 17 497
- 3,258 53 3,311
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE N E5FMkaZEaFMA L@
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEFM
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during RAFEESIN FBIUERNITEETANE
the year are as follows: ST :

Contributions
to defined
Salaries contribution

and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
o) 7€ £ fit &
FeR B EIZ
e HAitiEF hE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THER THER THER
Year ended 31 March 2022 HBZ-T-—f=A=+-HLt
Chung Wai Man BEX 180 - - 180
Leung Wai Chuen RIER 180 - - 180
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann BRE 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
Year ended 31 March 2021  HE-ZT-—F=F=+—HIt
Chung Wai Man EBEX 159 - - 159
Leung Wai Chuen ZER 159 - - 159
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann BRE 159 - - 159
477 - = 477
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11. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2021: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in note 11(a) above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2021: three) highest
paid individuals during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as
follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

M. E2FHFHRABRESHFMA LT @

(b)

IEBREFMAL
AEEHNAESZaTMALHR  HFR
ZERAARNEE(ZE-_—F:WE)
BB E SR FE11@) c BHEZT
——_F#=ZA=t+—HLFE #T=4
BeFMAL(ZE-—F:=Z2)0F
B :

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T T

Salaries and other benefits e &k H M AEF 1,737 1,926
Contributions to defined contribution M) %€ B8 FOR IR GT 81 2 73X

retirement plan 54 54

1,791 1,980

Emoluments paid to each of above individuals for each of
the year fell within the following band:

FMNFUATHEN ERALTEBOT :

2022 2021

—=E—-= —E-—F

No. of No. of

individuals individuals

ATHER ATHIEE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %% 751,000,000 3 3

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2021: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, all six directors
agreed to reduce their emoluments by 50% for the month
from 1 April 2020 to 30 April 2020 and reduce their
emoluments by 30% for three months from 1 May 2020 to
31 July 2020, as part of costs control measures. No directors
waived any emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12. FIBEH (%) BAxX
The amount of income tax (credit)/expense in the consolidated RiccBRkAEMEEmBERTORETE (Ke)
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income SRYEA
represents:
2022 2021
—s-= —F-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BUERT A — BB RSB
— charge for the year — AEEXH 115 111
— Under/(over)-provision in respect of - BAFERETR/
prior years (FBEEE) 71 (6)
186 105
Deferred tax (note 24) IRFERTE (M 5E24) (732) 2
Income tax (credit)/expense FTE#H (ER) X (546) 107
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% EBMNERNIREAREBEL 2 AtERT
(2020: 16.5%) on the Group’s estimated assessable profits arising A AT E16.5% (ZE-ZF : 16.5%) B
in Hong Kong for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group HAREE KM BRBKRIN  ZRARKTAE MK
which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates HIFEHRREEZETE - ZMB R A ZERH
regime. The first HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying i A H - B2,000,000% 7T 1£8.25% = & - M F
entity is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are FATE SR T 5 FBI1216 5% E o

taxed at 16.5%.
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12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued) 12. FRE8iBx% (ER) w
The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to FNMEH(ER) LRGBS REME
profit before income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or HRERANB SR =EMEERENT -

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2022 2021

—=E-= —E-—F

HK$000 HK$'000

FHET TFET

Profit before income tax W BT 45 25 A 1,849 8,264
Tax income calculated at the applicable domestic 1% 7K i i Fl 7% K5+ & 2 Fr 551

tax rate U A 190 1,267

Tax effect of temporary differences not AR REBIMETE

recognised 251 297

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose HEBRFIUW A 2 F G2 = (537)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRGEEZRETE 274 82

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised & 4 Al AR i 72 2 Bt 75 5 18 (588) (996)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses #&52 5t Al 7 72 i 18 &5 18 (744) =

Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior year BEFERERIR (BEEE) 71 (6)

Income tax (credit)/expense FTE#HGER) X (546) 107
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on

13. BRER
AKRRIHEEANEBLHZERARNRESAEF THE

the following data: RUATEIRHE :
2022 2021
—=-= — T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET
Earnings:
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the 782 Rl B A FE 14 & & % F
Company 2,395 8,157
2022 2021
—=E-— —E-—F
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Number of shares:
Weighted average number of shares for the A EERERREFRT Z M
purpose of calculating basic and diluted L H R & B
earnings per share 451,036 451,036
Notes: Bt 5
(i) Basic earnings per share was calculated by dividing the profit (i) SREABFIBEANGES ABMLRF - B

attributable to the owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(ii) For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, diluted earnings per
share was the same as basic earnings per share as there were no
dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended

31 March 2022 and 2021.

14. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed

since the end of reporting period (2021: Nil).

AERNBETEBROMEFIHEAE -

(i) HEZZF-_—_FR-T-_—F=A=+—AH1It
FE BREE-ZT-__FR-_ZF-_—F=A
St—BLEFETEECRESELRER BAUS
R E R A EGRERRTAER -

14. R E
Erelf@EpnaE—_E-_—F=/A=+—H
EFEERMERBKE  MERSHELEEB
RMEZBZRNEMRE(ZE=—F : &) -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - RERRE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Total
RE -£EB
HEMEEE EE et
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET TET
Cost (2%
As at 1 April 2020 R-_ZE-_FTFWMA—H 4,901 1,789 6,690
Additions 190 - 31 31
Disposal RE - (2) (2)
As at 31 March 2021 and R-ZZE-_—F=A=+—BK
1 April 2021 —E-_—FpWA—H 4,901 1,818 6,719
Additions 1% 90 426 131 557
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=A=+—H 5,327 1,949 7,276

Accumulated depreciation and EitITE R BEEIE
impairment losses

As at 1 April 2020 RZZTE=-FTFMA—A 4,492 1,778 6,270
Depreciation e 200 30 230
Impairment loss recognised (Note) Jil (& /& 18 w32 (Fft =) 160 = 160
Written back on disposal B & R - (2) (2)
As at 31 March 2021 and R-_ZE-_—F=A=+—8BxK
1 April 2021 —E-—FWm™A—H 4,852 1,806 6,658
Depreciation e 175 52 227
Impairment loss recognised (Note) &l {8 &5 8 732 (Fft 5F) 1 7 8
As at 31 March 2022 R-_TE-_—F=H=+—H 5,028 1,865 6,893
Net book value IREEE
As at 31 March 2021 R-_ZE-_—®=A=+—H 49 12 61
As at 31 March 2022 R-_E-_—_#=A=+—H 299 84 383
Note: Mizr -
The impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment amounting to ME . BRE R R ERREL8,0008 T (ZE - —4F :
HK$8,000 (2021: HK$160,000) have been recognised and recorded in other 160,000/ 7T) R E MU A -« Uazs & BB iR R a0 sE o
income, gains and losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, retail shops HREANEmMS  SEEHERRAARSELESAMN -
of the Group are determined as CGUs. The impairment loss attributable KAZERSELAEMN 2 BEBEENCYREZER
to those CGUs were then allocated to write down the assets in the CGUs SELBENHNEE (BIEERESE (Mix16) RiEE
(including right-of-use assets (Note 16) and related property, plant and M BEREE) o
equipment).
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. EREEE

Properties
leased
for own use
BERBEEWE
HK$’000
FExT
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZFTFMA—H 21,035
Additions bl 8,773
Lease modification HEBE] 11,602
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE-_—F=A=+—HBHEK
—ET-—F1MA—H 41,410
Additions 1890 3,867
Lease modification MEIER] 10,299
At 31 March 2022 RZE-—_F=HA=+—H 55,576
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 2 MERAEESE
At 1 April 2020 RZEZZFTFMA—H 11,469
Depreciation e 10,050
Impairment loss recognised (Note) VEREN R A ) 1,762
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—HFK
—ZE_—FMA—H 23,281
Depreciation e 13,070
Impairment loss recognised (Note) B & 18 R (PR EE) 421
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE_—_F=A=+—H 36,772
Net book value IREEE
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H 18,129
As at 31 March 2022 R-_ZTE-_—_F=HA=+—H 18,804

Note:

The impairment loss related to right-of-use assets amounting to HK$421,000

By e

i PR 4 4 BE M) (B 49421,00058 7E (Z B = — % -

(2021: HK$1,762,000) has been recognised and recorded in other income,
gains and losses to write down the carrying amount of the CGUs to its
recoverable amount. For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s
retail shops are determined as CGUs. The impairment losses attributable
to those CGUs were then allocated to write down the assets in the CGUs
(including property, plant and equipment (Note 15) and related right-of-use
assets).

1,762,000 7T) B 20 E WA - Weas B &5 18 A0 8% K e
R BReELAENNEREMREHATKE €58 o
RREAANS  AEENTEEREERRRCE
EEM  c RERSREELENU 2 REBBENE SR
EREHeEEBUNEE (BEYE - BE R&iE (
FH15) RIEEEAEEE) ©
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs in which the right-of-use
assets were included have been determined from value-in-use
calculations based on cash flow projections of the remaining lease
periods from formally approved budgets and adopted pre-tax
discount rate of 18.42% (2021: 12.48%). The key assumptions
for the value-in-use calculations are budgeted gross margin of
46% to 55% (2021: 30% to 58%), growth rate of 0% to 12.1%
(2021: 3% to 6.1%) and wage inflation of 3% (2021: 3%). The
budgeted gross margin and growth rate are determined based
on the CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations
regarding market development. Wage inflation has been estimated
with reference to the independent economic data published by the
Census and Statistics Department of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.

As COVID-19 pandemic continues to spread in China and Hong
Kong, there have been significant impacts to consumer sentiment
and product demand, which adversely affect the Group's certain
retail business performance. Accordingly, this had an impact on
the estimated value in use of certain CGUs and impairment losses
on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets were
recognised.

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

16. FFAEEw

FHREEEMBNRSEEEMA A KD S5
ZERBEEE - & DBEREERIERF &
HEHBEENRSRERMN1842% (=T =—
F:12.48%) MATM R EAESH - EHEME
AEFENEEBRRABEE TR X BLI6%E
55% (ZZF —— 4 : 30%%58%) * HEEER
B0%E121% (ZF = —F :3%£6.1%) & T
BEERAI% (ZE-—4F :3%) - BEEF
ERBERERRDIZEABRSCELENNBAE
FAREEEHMSERNBHEE - TEH
RE2ERBFRNITHRERF A ERAMG
Z B BEBIR A EHSH o

HARCOVID-1IEBETEREBRFEEL @ ¥
BYEHEBEEBERERT R  SAKEHH
TEEBNREZIINTMEZE - Bt - EH

NRSELBENNGHHEREERKTE &

BHEYE  BERREREREEERERE -

17. B EE

Customers
relationship
EFBR&
HK$’000
FHET
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and RZZE-_ZTFWHA—H
31 March 2022 —E-_—%=fF=+—8"
T -FEA-BR
—E-—H#=fA=+—H 8,041
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses At B RBERSRE
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and R-ZZE_FTFWPA—H
31 March 2022 —_E-_—®=ZfA=+—8"
—E-—FWHA-HR
T _F=A=+—H 8,041
Net book value BRE A
As at 31 March 2021 and 2022 RZZEZ—FR-ZF-__F=A=+—H -
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18. GOODWILL 18. BE
HK$'000
THET
Cost (BN
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and RZZZZTFWHYHA—H
31 March 2022 —E-—®=ZA=+—H8"
—E--FWA—HK
—E-__4#=RA=+—H 36,906
Accumulated impairment losses 2R EESE
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and R-_ZE_FFWYAH—AH -
31 March 2022 —E-_—F=A=+—H"
T —FWA—BRK
—E-__F#=H=+—H 36,906
Net book value REEE
As at 31 March 2021 and 2022 RZEZ—FR-ZE-__F=-A=+—H -
19. INVENTORIES 19. 78
2022 2021
—E=-= —F_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T TAT
Merchandise S 12,962 10,114
Less: provision of impairment loss B R B S 18 2E R (2,007) (2,223)
10,955 7,891

A reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$216,000 (2021:

provision of impairment loss of HK$178,000) for the carrying

value of merchandise have been recognised during the year.

The impairment provision arose due to slow moving of certain

lighting and household furniture products as a result of change in

consumer preferences. The reversal of impairment loss mainly arose

from sales of impaired inventories during the year.

AFEEEHERAEMEABEZREBEBREDLN
216,000 L (Z 2= —F : BEEEEH
178,000/ 7T) - BN E TR R K AE BEH
EEEHEYmMSAEHEE  BELRESE
HeREEBREEERENAFEHEER
BEEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. FEWFRTE | H 4 FE W R

2022 2021

—E—= —TE-—F

HK$000 HK$'000

FHET TFET

Trade receivables A& ] 367 355
Deposits and other receivables e R HMEWKKIE 8,078 6,051
Prepayments a1 FRIR 938 3,692
Total et 9,383 10,098
Less: non-current — rental deposits B ERNH - ERS (2,540) (3,808)
6,843 6,290
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The average credit FEWZEATTE - HEEMHNIEHYEEHSA
period on sales of goods is ranged from 0 — 30 days from invoice FEZE AN T0E30K - RREHRER  BIK
date. At the end of reporting period, ageing analysis of the trade I (H 5 R B E538345,0008 T8 (Z 2 = —
receivables (net of impairment losses of HK$345,000 (2021: £ : 283,000/ 7T) ) IREZ HEIRBRE DT T -

HK$283,000)), based on invoice date, is as follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= == e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Within 30 days 30K 188 185
31 to 90 days 31£290K 77 117
91 to 180 days 91£ 180K 70 29
Over 180 days HBiE180K 32 24
367 355
The Group assessed impairment loss based on the accounting policy N & B AR 18 MY sE4G) (1) BT £ %1 By = 51 3R 2T 1 8
as stated in note 4(i)(ii). The Group did not hold any collateral as {E18 5k o 7N &= B 3 4 ot fE UL Rk T8 5 5 {E (r] 3K 8
security or other credit enhancement over the trade receivables. AR H A (s B 18 R IE i o
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising EHREBREERENRKREBEERERNEERRE
from trade receivables are set out in note 29(b). B — R IBEH AN E29(b) ©
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AR B R Y R

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. B RIER HAMtEAFRIR
2022 2021
—E—= — T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Trade payables JE 1~ 5038 2,712 4,581
Accruals and other payables JE 5T FRIR K B A FE 5 5RIE 2,936 2,774
5,648 7,355

Trade payables are non-interest bearing. The Group is normally
granted credit terms ranging from 30 to 180 days. At the end of
reporting period, ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on

invoice date, is as follows:

ENHRESTAHE - AEE—KREN F3I0E
180RZIEEH - RMmE MR KR - B FHIAZHE

SERHNERRITAT

2022 2021

—E—-= —E-—F

HK$000 HK$'000

THET F#T

Within 30 days 30K 1,436 1,714
31 to 60 days 31260K 635 1,301
61 to 90 days 61290k 610 1,268
Over 90 days R 3E90K 31 298
2,712 4,581

ERASEZRERAA

2021/224% R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. 5HEE
2022 2021
—E—= —TE-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Contract liabilities arising from lighting and BEIRRAEBELANEHNEBE
furniture business 1,268 1,058
2022 2021
== == e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Movements in contract liabilities: AHEBHNEE :
Balance at the beginning of the year FHEER 1,058 873
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HAFEANERFEVNTAGLHEED
recognising revenue during the year that WAmEBREHEFERD
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (395) (266)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ARBEEFPMNBENRKEMERN
advanced consideration received from customers & %) & {F1 j1 605 451
Balance at the end of the year FEREH 1,268 1,058
When the Group receives sales deposits from customers before BEAEBAEINEYZRIREBZFE S 1%
the delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at SRR EHNFREREESGHNABE GHABE
the start of a contract. Contract liabilities are recognised until the ENMRXNEBEES ZBIER - MAREKAS LD
goods are delivered and accepted by the customers. The unsatisfied BEBHN —FANER -
performance obligations are expected to be recognised within one
year.
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as
lessee)

The Group leases various offices, retail shops and warehouses
under lease agreements. The lease agreements are between one
and three years. The leases of certain retail shops comprise fixed
payments and variable payments over the lease terms (call for
additional rentals), which will be based on a certain percentage
of revenue of the operation being undertaken therein pursuant
to the terms and conditions as stipulated in the respective rental
agreement.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contracts to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the leases. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received,;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk of lessee; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term and
security.

ﬁh%ﬁZ&E@ﬁ%ﬁﬁk)

AEBREHERZAAETHAE  TEE
BREE ZEHEMZAE —ZE=F-FT
TEESNHERSEREESFELEENRR
ZEMNR(BEREIINAS) BEASBRES
& e 5T B M IR RAR IR S 1 B =
BW—EBDLLFE -

BRI EEHEE MIFESEKID - AEEIR
BEHEFFHEEARBY 2HHEBER K
BRZREDEEHENRFFESHAKILD °

HERTDREHNEELETHER  BESZEBD
(R {6 3R B AR 1 o TR & 15 o 1 & 3 A0 AE (] 2 56
HEEENSRAERRZER -

MEFBRDEREER S ZMEEH - M
HEBEEZMNE (AEEZHEBEWLL) - Al
6 FAE A 2 38 848 50 X - BIE Bl A E AR
BUKLERRRBERAOUER - ER TR E
ABRGEEREEECBERECEEMT 2
B MASAN 2 E -

RETEESERE - KREM

o TERIAEIER T2 A A BIAE A B ES
ZE=ZFTRMEFERER WIFHFEMN
RMEBMEBE=FREARBE RHEZ
2

. ERARIME BERABRAZEERR
AEEERNE K

. HAEEL R ERE - MERREM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 3= B 3+

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 23. HEREBEw
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HEXKoHE EAEABA) @
lessee) (continued)
Properties leased for own use 2022 2021
BRAEEWE SEeE —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FTET FH&IT
Balance at 1 April RIOA— B z&8 20,653 11,520
Additions by 3,867 8,773
Interest expense FE X 761 642
Lease payments HER® (14,844) (11,884)
Rent concession HeEER (387) -
Effect on modification of lease term BIHERIZEE 10,299 11,602
Balance at 31 March R=ZA=+—B &% 20,349 20,653
The future lease payments of the Group's leases (excluding AEEHE(TBEEHEE)NBAEEERNRK
short-term leases) were scheduled to repay as follows: RETEIENAT :

Minimum lease

payments Interest Present value
REBEMLR FI B RE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTET FET
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZBE-_—_F=H=+—H
Not later than one year TIER—F 14,194 (436) 13,758
Later than one year but not later ER —FERNEBRAE
than five years 6,715 (124) 6,591
20,909 (560) 20,349
As at 31 March 2021 R-BE-——F=A=+—H
Not later than one year TERR—F 12,379 (535) 11,844
Later than one year but not later ER —EERNERAE
than five years 8,954 (145) 8,809
21,333 (680) 20,653
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as
lessee) (continued)

The analysis of the present value of future lease payments is as

23. fHEEEw

=
A E

HEXK 2MHE (EREEN) @

AREMEFRRZREDFTLT :

U5 R R M R

follows:
2022 2021
—E_— —F-——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Current liabilities mEBAE 13,758 11,844
Non-current liabilities SERBBE 6,591 8,809
20,349 20,653
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET T T
Short-term lease expense REPEELH 1,598 2,537
Expense relating to variable lease payments not Tt AE GG+ EZZHHEE
included in the measurement of lease liabilities 1~ FX 488 5% 68 34
Credit relating to negative variable lease Tt AEBETEZREH
payments not included in the measurement HEMZAEEER ()
of lease liabilities (note) (387) (396)
Aggregate undiscounted commitments for RALIR AT AR E R s s
short-term leases 33 523

Note:

Negative variable lease payments represent Covid-19 related rent concessions
reduced lease payments provided by lessors.

GEE

BFPHEN KB HEARMECOVID-195ENES

BE-

ERASEZRERAA
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24. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are as
follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

24. EFERIE
BREMRBEERANFE 2 ZEEWNT

Unused tax Decelerated tax

losses depreciation Total

<EA R
BHBER HERE st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THER FHET FET
As at 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_ZFTFMA—H = 240 240
Charged to profit or loss (note 12) A Bz (M5E12) - () (2)
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZEBE-_—F=F=+—H - 238 238

Credited/(Charged) to profit or RERF A (FK%)

loss (note 12) (FFaE12) 744 (12) 732
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE__F#=A=+—H 744 226 970

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$35,114,000 (2021: HK$41,529,000) available to
offset against the future taxable profit. A deferred tax asset of
HK$744,000 (2021: Nil) has been recognised in respect of tax
losses of approximately HK$4,509,000 (2021: Nil). No deferred
tax have been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses as
it is uncertain whether future taxable profit will be available for
utilising the tax losses. Under current tax legislation, tax losses can
be carried forward indefinitely.

RBEHR AEEERSARBEIE
35,114,000% 70 (=& = —4F : 41,529,000/ 7T)
A 4 3K 85 2R 2R JE R 08 A1l o B £ 494,509,000/
T(ZEZ—F  B)NWHRBBBRAELTHE
BE744,0008 7L (ZTZ—F : ) - BT
EARRAERTEF 2SR AREHEFRIBEE -
3 R 5 R 62 B B S B RERIEEH 0B - IR IK
WITHOE - RIBBE T SRS -

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. g A<
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZEREE EERMEE
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at BRREEC.0N1E T TR
1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and R-_E_ZTFWHWA—B —_FT_—F
31 March 2022 —A=t—HAk-_ZTE-_—F=8
=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and R-ZE_FTFNWA—H  —FT-—%F
31 March 2022 =RA=+T—HAR=ZZT=Z=_F=A
=+—H 451,035,713 4,510
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26. RESERVES
Group
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the con-solidated statement of changes in
equity.

Share premium
The share premium account of the Group represents the premium

arising from the issuance of shares at premium.

Company

6. f#HE

r&EH
ARERNENREBERDOFBRR LRSS
DELE

IR 15 % 8

7 5 B 2 R 19 (R OR AR A (B 1T AR 49 73
HE 01

AN

Accumulated

Share premium losses Total

= ZitEi8 mt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FET FHET

As at 1 April 2020 RZTE=_ZFTFMA—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Loss and total comprehensive FRNEEEREmKSEEEE

income for the year (note) (Bt 5E) - - -

As at 31 March 2021 and RZZBE-—F=A=+—HR

1 April 2021 —E-_—FMA—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Profit and total comprehensive F R A K 2 W S e E

income for the year (note) (B &) = = =

As at 31 March 2022 R-BE-_—_F=A=+—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)

Note: Profit and total comprehensive income for the year amounted to
HK$5 (2021: loss and total comprehensive income for the year
amounted to HK$345).

M : FRafkzaRER2RABT (2T =—
FEABRRZARGERE/ISET) °
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27. BERRS
The Group had the following material transactions with its related AREBREBEE - ZE-_—_FR_ZFT_-_—F=8
parties during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021: ST -—HIEFERNTHEHBRFETTIERR
5
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEBEAEZHM
Key management personnel includes directors and senior FTEEBAERRESERaRERAE -BX
management. The compensation paid or payable to key NHENETEEEAENEERSHFMUOT :

management personnel for employee services is shown below:

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#E T TAT

Salaries and other benefits e M E AEF 6,657 5,962
Contributions on defined contribution retirement [A] 7 %8 (i ZGR R 5T 2] 2 3%

plan 134 125

6,791 6,087

28. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 28. HERE L L MEERSRE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY EEE
Below summary of financial assets and financial liabilities by WEREDSHEENSCHABBEHHET :
category:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FH& T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: REEXNATENSREE
Trade and other receivables FE WK I8 K L fib fE W FRIE 8,445 6,406
Cash and bank balances B e RiRTTHE R 13,855 17,557
22,300 23,963
Financial liabilities otz a=N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHERATENSMEE
Trade and other payables J& {-F R T8 Ko EL Ath JE < 3R IB 5,648 7,355
Other financial instruments Hih&@MI A
Lease liabilities HERE 20,349 20,653
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
including foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management procedures focus
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by key management under the
policies approved by the board of directors. The Group does not
have written risk management policies. However, the directors and
senior management of the Group meet regularly to identify and
evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks.

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding
its financial risk management. As the directors consider that the
Group's exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The most significant risks to which the Group is
exposed to are described below:

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations arises. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arises.

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation
of the Euro (“EUR"), United States dollar (“USD") and
Renminbi (“RMB"”) against HKS.

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, management considers that
there is no significant foreign currency risk between these
two currencies to the Group.

The Group's trade payables denominated in EUR and RMB
are in insignificant amount at the end of each of reporting
periods. The directors are of the opinion that the volatility of
the Group'’s results against change in exchange rate of EUR
and RMB would not be significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is performed.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk includes risks resulting from counter party default
and risks of concentration. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Most of the retail sales are made in cash or by credit cards.
In respect of sales on credit, the Group trades on credit only
with corporate customers who have an established trading
history with the Group. The Group has policies in place for
the control and monitoring of relevant credit risks. These
credit evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates.

As at 31 March 2022, the trade receivables from the five
largest debtors represented 33% (2021: 34%) of the total
trade receivables respectively, while the largest debtor
represented 8% (2021: 14%) of the total trade receivables
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at
31 March 2022 and 2021:

V

29. BIiEE R EE w
(b) SERK @
TEREBERAEER TS __FR=
T - —F=-A=+—HHRERFEME
ROEERRRBEHREEEENER -

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
2022 loss rate amount allowance
== EHERLE HWEREE BiEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
% FET FExT
Not yet due K 780 Bf 0.53 189 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days #HI1-180K 1.34 149 (2)
338 (3)
Individual assessment & I FE A 374 (342)
712 (345)

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
2021 loss rate amount allowance
T —F TEERES 1B b & MAEREE EiERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
% FAT FET
Not yet due A% HA 0.54 185 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days #HEA1-180K 1.35 148 (2)
333 (3)
Individual assessment & Bl FF 305 (280)
638 (283)

Expected loss rate is estimated based on actual loss
experience over the past 5 years. The rate is adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

EHEREETREBASEFNERER
BERMAET o LR THRHE - ARBREWE
R sk 2R 4% HAFR) e AR B KO ~ B AT AR A
Ko AN 62 [ 5 e YR SR OH O TR H AF A AR R AR
BERRZBENER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for trade receivables which is
measured under lifetime ECLs:

B S R Bl
(b) GEH % ()

TRIIRE Bt E YR
BRMER BRER R

2HEHEE

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
- provision - individual
matrix assessment
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
EHEAHEE 2HEBEE
K18 - s B8 - &35!
iFE Al
(EEERE) (FEERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FTHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFMWMA—H 4 158 162
Impairment loss recognised R B EEER 20 101 121
At 31 March 2021 and RZT=Z—F=A=+—H
1 April 2021 EZZEZ—FMA—H 24 259 283
Impairment loss (reversed)/  SEEEIE (BE) /H#E72
recognised (21) 83 62
At 31 March 2022 R-—ZE-_—_F#=HA=+—H 3 342 345

During the year, the Group measured loss allowance for a
trade deposit with gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,662,000 at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. The
deposit is unsecured, interest free, repayable in one year and
included in trade and other receivables. The loss allowance
for ECLs is calculated by reference to any historical default,
current market condition in relation to the debtor’s exposure
and time value of money where appropriate. The ECLs also
incorporate forward looking information with reference to
general macroeconomic conditions that may affect the ability
of the debtors to settle the deposit. The loss allowance
for ECLs recognised on the trade deposit during the year
amounted to approximately HK$1,077,000 (2021: Nil).

The credit risks on rental deposits are considered to be low
as they can be recovered by offsetting against the rental
payments.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable and creditworthy
banks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

29. B E PR B

Liquidity risk (0 RBELEMR
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be mEBEsRBREREBEREEREUR
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial MREeKEMEREETESRHRABBRY
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial EFEERRER ANEEESERNMN
assets. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of RERHEMENKRBLEGERSREE
settlement of trade and other payables, and also in respect BHEASRBESRR FIEAKEE
of its cash flow management. The cash management of all BJHESEEBETHRERE B8REES
operating entities is centralised, including the raising of funds B UENBHESE R AEE 2B
to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s objective is EEREEEHARSHAE UWnEHE
to maintain sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity HEBRANREESEK -
requirements in the short and longer term.
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREFNPNBEHRAEEBIETE SR
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's BELEMERTANGTAERIES
non-derivative financial liabilities and other financial W ThiR BB 5 B 0] g i B SR A &
instruments, based on undiscounted cash flows and the FHHEBRECREBENABBRRERE
earliest date the Group can be required to pay. B o
Less than Total
1 year or 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2022 on demand years years cash flows amount
R=T=Z= DME ABRRE
=BA=+-—-H FEER 1-2F 2-54 TMEAE REE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TART TART THERT
Trade and other &R IE e EL A
payables &3R8 5,648 - - 5,648 5,648
Lease liabilities HEAE 14,194 5,659 1,056 20,909 20,349
19,842 5,659 1,056 26,557 25,997
Less than Total
1 year or 1-2 2-5  undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2021 on demand years years cash flows amount
RZBZ—% PR REBR &
=A=+—H FEEK 1-24F 2-54 mERE AREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Trade and other FEfT R IE R E A
payables FEfS 5518 7,355 - - 7,355 7,355
Lease liabilities HEBE 12,379 8,275 679 21,333 20,653
19,734 8,275 679 28,688 28,008
ERPEEZERBRAT 2021/225F 8K



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 3= B 3+

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 29. Bf %@ b B I )
(d) Interest rate risk (d) F ==k
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and ERAEETEEANGTEEE  &F
liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are HMIMARLEESRE NI MDA HE
substantially independent of changes in market interest rate. P RSB 2 o
30. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 30. RERETRERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) MEETHEENEEBZHIER
financing activities:
Lease liabilities (note 23) 2022 2021
HEAE (fE23) —E=-= T
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Balance at the beginning of the year  F#l & 20,653 11,520
Changes from cash flows: fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@] :
Repayment of principal portion of the lease {EE & & & 2 E A& 5
liabilities (14,090) (11,251)
Repayment of interest portion of the lease EEHREGEZ F &
liabilities (754) (633)
(14,844) (11,884)
Other changes: Eﬁﬂgéﬁ :
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHNE 761 642
Increase in lease liabilities from entering RAE E E AT 378 & w3
into new leases during the year HEAE 3,867 8,773
Rent concession HeER (387) -
Effect on modification of lease term B HERR & 10,299 11,602
14,540 21,017
Balance at the end of the year FARES 20,349 20,653
(b) Major non-cash transactions (b) EXFBERS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to NANERE PR AEYWE  FHLEEER
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$3,867,000 HMELH  &~E&E .ﬁﬂﬂgﬁ@&fﬁﬁg
(2021: HK$8,773,000) and HK$3,867,000 (2021: BEHIER SR E H A A3,867,0000 7T (=
HK$8,773,000), respectively, in respect of lease T — —4 :8,773,000% Jt) &3,867,000
arrangements for office premises, shops and warehouses. WL (ZZE=—4F : 8,773,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital
and to support the Group’s stability and growth.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group, to ensure optimal shareholder returns.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares, raise new debts or sells assets to reduce debt.

31.

EXRERERE
ARBZEAEERENREARENHBEE
B LABIRIUR GBI R B K A F 2R B 1R

T ERREEANGEBARD ”ﬁéﬁfzz@x
kXF BERBEZIBEMHERERZEE

AEEBEGEREHMRTREEEERNER A
BEBAEB 2 RARESTE  ABRMER
ERRRE R -

AEEEREAGE LRECERREHR
HMEENRRSRYE AR ARER

HEBEEARNGERE  AEBEAREHEN TFRE
MBS RMERRREERN BHTHK &
SRR B o B B AR D BT

The total equity to total assets ratio at the end of reporting period RNEREANEE AN EREREEEEATEL
is as follows: R :
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Total equity T A 27,045 24.650
Total assets BEMRTE 54,350 53,974
Total equity to total assets ratio R A E AL R 0.50:1 0.46:1
ERAEEZERER AR  2021/22F %K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3R 2% B 3%

32. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. RAR MBI EE
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fff & FHET T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R E R RAIEE 2,700 2,700
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 2,700 2,700
Current assets mEBEE
Other receivable H fib B W R IE 4 41
Bank balances and cash RITEHRERE 589 589
Total current assets REEEEE 630 630
Total assets EE#E 3,330 3,330
NET ASSETS EERE 3,330 3,330
Equity Ex
Share capital & A 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves & 26 (1,180) (1,180)
TOTAL EQUITY A 3,330 3,330
On behalf of the Board
RREST
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (FFE]&) Hue Kwok Chiu (FFEl &)
Director &% Director &%
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RA B MR N

33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 33. B A AR
Particulars of the Group's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are as REEBR -_ZE-_—_F=A=+—B2ZHBAR
follows: FIEMAT
Issued and Attributable
fully paid equity interest Principal activities
Place and date of share capital held by the Group and place of operation
Name incorporation/establishment BETER AEEBEN
A1 MR,/ KL 2R A BRRE EihRAER TEEBREENY
Top Triumph Global Limited BVI, 20 November 2013 Us$1 100% direct Investment holding
RERAES 1% 100%E # REZR
—Z-—=f+-A=TH
Central United Global Limited BVI, 18 November 2010 Us$100 100% indirect Investment holding
ABRAEE 1003 7T 100% M REZR
“Z-ZF+-RTNH
Elegant Chain Development Limited ~ BVI, 8 August 2008 Us$140 100% indirect Investment holding
ABRAEE 1403 7T 100% M REZR
ZZZN\ENANB
Top Investor Global Limited BVI, 11 November 2014 Us$1 100% indirect Investment holding
ABRAEE (ET 100% M REZR
“Z-mE+—-A+—H
Central Sky Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 24 October 2003 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
RRERBRARA &% —ZT=F+A=1+mA 1057z 100% % Hong Kong
REEZERHER
E Lighting Group Limited Hong Kong, 4 January 2011 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
R —T——5—AWA 10,000/ 7t 100% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REBZERHERRTE
Element Lighting Design Limited Hong Kong, 11 May 2005 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
REARTERAA B# —“ZTHRERATA 107 7T 100% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REBZERHERRKE
Good Harvest Surplus Limited Hong Kong, 20 May 2011 HK$ 1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
EERBRAA & —2——FRA=1AH 1T 100% and household furniture in

ERAKEEZERARAR

Hong Kong
RERTERMER LKA

2021/224% R
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33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

33. B A BFHBw

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 3= B 3+

Issued and Attributable
fully paid equity interest Principal activities
Place and date of share capital held by the Group and place of operation
Name incorporation/establishment BETR AEEfBEN
A1 HEMAREL,/ KL 2 A BRRE iR A ER TEEBREEMY
RS Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 23 February 2009 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BE ZEENE-A=T=H 10,0008 7T 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
228 Inc Limited Hong Kong, 6 November 2013 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
EB —E-ZF+-AKA 10,0005 7T 100% ) # Hong Kong
REETERMER
Culture Art Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
XEFRDA B ZT-METARA 157 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Major Will Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
B ZT-METARA 157 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
ELG Operations Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Sourcing of lighting products
ERASERERBRAA B ZT-METATHA 157 100% ) # and household furniture
REEHERRRE
ELG Management Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Provision of management
ERASEEEERAA B ZT-METATHA 1T 100% ) # services
RAEE RS
Urban Lifestyle Limited Hong Kong, 26 November 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BE ZT-MET-AZTAB 1En 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Lighting Connected Limited Hong Kong, 26 November 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BE ZT-MET-AZTAB 1En 100% ) # and household furniture in

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B2 75 ¥ 2% B 5

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 33. MEBARAFRBw
(Continued)
Issued and Attributable
fully paid equity interest Principal activities
Place and date of share capital held by the Group and place of operation
Name incorporation/establishment BETR AEEfBEN
A8 ML/ KL 2K A BRRE EihRAER TEXBREFXHE
Real Luck Limited Hong Kong, 1 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
& ZT-MET=A—H 1% 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Trendmall Group Limited Hong Kong, 2 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Investment holding
BE —Z-WE+-AZH 187 100% £ REZK
Trendmall Gallery Limited Hong Kong, 15 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Provision of management
W EEE AR AR R —E-NF+-ATHA 1% 100% services
REER RS
Trendmall International Limited Hong Kong, 15 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Wholesale of tableware and
R —E-NF+-ATHA 1% 100% its related products and

Note: None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Hong Kong Legislative Council has, on 9 June 2022, passed
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (the “Bill”) to abolish the
MPF offsetting mechanism. It is envisaged that the cancellation of
mechanism will not come into effect until 2025 at the earliest.

The abolishment of the MPF offsetting mechanism will not have
retrospective effect, and the Bill will not change the rate and
maximum payment of statutory severance payments or long service
payments, which is currently calculated as 2/3 of the employee’s
last monthly wages (capped at HK$22,500), and subject to the
maximum limit of HK$390,000.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact
of the Bill to the Group. The Group is not yet in a position to state
whether the abolishment of the MPF offsetting mechanism will
result in substantial change to the Group's financial statements.

34.

international trade
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 5 =

Year ended 31 March
BE=R=t-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“g--f C—Z--F ZT-TF —T-NF Z—E-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT TET TR
OPERATING RESULTS KEXE
Revenue L 83,891 82,227 69,515 78,765 81,725
Cost of sales HERR (37,652) (38,173) (32,752) (36,399) (41,647)
Gross profit E | 46,239 44,054 36,763 42,366 40,078
Other income, gain and losses HA - s R ER 305 2,147 (1,320) (21,483) (17,125)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEEY (27,422) (23,005) (25,925) (28,863) (33,584)
Administrative and other expenses  {TEI R E 5 (15,373) (14,169) (13,790) (16,650) (17,028)
Expected credit losses recognised CREAERANEHEEER
on financial assets (1,139) (121) 4 (55) -
Finance costs BHE R AR (761) (642) (694) = =
Profit/(Loss) before tax BB ATRR (FE) 1,849 8,264 (4,962) (24,685) (27,659)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEHEL/ (A%) 546 (107) 30 438 246
Profit/(Loss) and total AQAEEAES
comprehensive income for FRER/ (B8)
the year attributable to the RE2EWEEH
owners of the Company 2,395 8,157 (4,932) (24,247) (27,413)
As at 31 March
R=RA=1+-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“g--f CZE--F ZT-TF —T-NF Z—E-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TR THET TR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets EELE 54,350 53,974 35,609 29,069 53,561
Total liabilities BE4E (27,305) (29,324) (19,116) (7,644) (7,778)
Net assets EEFHE 27,045 24,650 16,493 21,425 45,783
Equity it 27,045 24,650 16,493 21,425 45,783
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